UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
G o pteic Hlagpflad gl )

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(REESHEFTMRIZBMRAT) Stock code BRIBHRIR - 335

Annual
Report




CONTENTS
= %

Corporate Information

REER

Financial Highlights
FBRE

Chairman’s Statement
ITRWME

Management Discussion and Analysis
ERBAREAN

Biography of Directors and Senior Management
BEENEREREEH

Report of the Directors

Exgws

Corporate Governance Report

EREERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE HeREREE

Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBA RS

Consolidated Income Statement
melER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
marElER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI K

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BARREDE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HARERBR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B MR

Schedule of Properties

ELIES

65

66

68

69

71

156



CORPORATE INFORMATION

~ 7 B M

Board of Directors
Non-Executive Directors

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)

Company Secretary
Mr. YUEN Shing Him, CPA

Auditors
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Audit Committee

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA (Chairman)
Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. POON Kai Tik (Chairman)

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA

Nomination Committee

Mr. POON Kai Tik (Chairman)

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA

Principal Banker
OCBC Wing Hang Bank, Limited

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 45 W 2 )

g
FUTES
ReXELE(ZE)
HERAEB L

UITES

Bz 3 /M8 - ACA, CPA
BEHEE

REfEE

BLFHTES

BRoRZ L4 - CPA
ERBEAE

&% & 0 CPA (Australia)

NEME
RAHRITE - CPA

B
BEgtmERMARAR
EES -]

BREES

BRR&ZSLE  CPA(ERE)
ERREAE

&S & 0 CPA (Australia)

yMzES

ERGELE (FE)
BRR&ZSLE - CPA

OB %A CPA (Australia)
#{&¥/ME - ACA, CPA

REZEES

ERGELE (FE)
BRR&ZSLE - CPA

SFSOE %A CPA (Australia)
#{&¥/ME - ACA, CPA

FTEERRT
EFKFRITERAF



Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 335

Website
http://www.upbest.com

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
2" Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre

300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

Registered Office
P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands Principal Registrar
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House - 3" Floor

24 Shedden Road

P.O Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman lIslands

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
Tricor Standard Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATIO

n

BRER
BEBBARHFT 335

A
http://www.upbest.com

EBTEEE MY
B

=4 B+ 3005
EREEPLE

A EE
P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HERETERNDBFERLE
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House - 3 Floor
24 Shedden Road

P.O Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

EBROBFEEDE
FEREARAT
B

ERANEFR1835%R

B R 544E

Annual Report 2019 F 42




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B B B E
(In HK$'000) (LB F T B ES7) 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
OPERATING RESULTS 2EMN
Revenue Y25 191,589 124,642 317,515 443,398 259,467
Profit for the year attributable to A2 FH#HE AE(L
owners of the Company F N F 254,624 163,603 225867 518,309 315,407
Earnings per share - Basic B M — ER
HK cents il 9.5 6.1 8.4 19.3 11.8
FINANCIAL POSITION B S AROR
Total assets BEBE 2,903,628 2,713,372 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248
Net assets BEFE 2,642,866 2,491,167 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058
Total liabilities BEHBE 260,762 222,205 269,976 191550 368,190
SEGMENT INFORMATION D E R
- SEGMENT REVENUE - DHWE
Broking e 8,136 11,307 9,359 15,186 10,974
Financing B % 73,146 77,307 64,539 49,326 33,934
Corporate finance TERE 1,276 16 15,054 38 1,527
Assets management BEER 2,242 2,565 4,293 2,726 10,900
Property investment FHERE 106,496 25,912 26,764 28,848 19,348
Precious metal trading E¢BEE 293 7535 197,506 347,274 182,784
- SEGMENT RESULTS — D EE
Broking & (1,609) 1,162 (328) 3,870 849
Financing B 7% 64,706 68,371 55,317 42,937 27,848
Corporate finance TERE 1,224 7 11,421 31 1,397
Assets management EEER 634 1,552 3,214 1,739 9,881
Property investment B ERE 100,347 20,562 21,896 23,118 14,939
Precious metal trading E¢BESE (686) (703) (930) (902) (456)
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31t March, 2019.

Financial and Business Review

During the financial year 2019, the Group recorded a profit of
approximately HK$262.5 million, which was approximately 60.5% higher
than the approximately HK$163.6 million recorded in the preceding
year. The increase in profit recorded mainly resulted from our revenue
of the property investment segment of approximately HK$106.5 million
(2018: HK$25.9 million) and the net increase in fair value amounted to
approximately HK$175.0 million (2018: HK$115.0 million) recognised by
the investment properties during the financial year.

Facing the volatile securities market performance during the year, our
Group’s broking and financing segments were highly affected and
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$81.3 million, representing a
decrease by approximately 8.3% when compared with the preceding
year.

Furthermore, our Group’s financing segment recorded significant gains
in both revenue and segment results during the year, accounted for
approximately HK$73.1 million and approximately HK$64.7 million
respectively. Our financing segment is able to generate reliable income
to the Group by utilising our rich cash reserves in our Group.

Market Review

The growth momentum in China continued to slacken following various
unfavourable economic data indicating the slowdown taken place in
the world’s second largest economy. Indices of industrial production —
a measure of the output of the industrial sectors in China’s economy,
including manufacturing, mining and utilities, continued to edge down
despite recent monetary easing efforts by the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) government, resulting in the contraction of industrial
profit and increase the credit risk for the region.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T F ® &

Both the U.S. and China economy were suffered from the trade conflict
since last year, leading to significant financial market volatility. Investors
remained cautious with the view that the trade conflict between U.S. and
China would further be escalated in the second half of the year.

The Brexit deadlock and the lingering risk of a hard Brexit had triggered
a doubtfulness on the economic performance of the UK post-Brexit. The
Eurozone economy had also been weakened due to the uncertainty of
the ability to collect the substantial Italian debt overhang and a further
weakening in economic activities and confidence indicators in recent
months.

The uncertain global economic outlook had greatly affected investors’
appetite and market performance. The Hang Seng index shifted below
29,000 point from the highest point of 31,513 last year. As at the year
ended 318 March, 2019, the Hang Seng Index was at 29,051 points, a
decrease of 3.5% comparing with last year. For the period from April,
2018 to March, 2019, the average daily turnover amounted to HK$96.2
billion, an approximately 9.4% decrease compared with HK$106.2
billion in the corresponding period of last year.

Broking

Save as the uncertain global economic outlook and the decrease in
the market turnover of the securities market in Hong Kong, the broking
segment recorded a segment revenue of approximately HK$8.1 million
comparing with the preceding year of approximately HK$11.3 million, an
approximately 28.3% decrease during the year.

Financing

The segment revenue and segment results of approximately HK$73.1
million and approximately HK$64.7 million were similar to the preceding
financial year. Such segment results were mainly derived from our
rich cash reserves. Due to the volatile securities market, we maintain
a cautious approach in extending loans to our margin clients. The
segment results for the current financial year amounted to HK$64.7
million which was approximately 5.4% lower than the previous year.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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Corporate Finance and Asset Management

During the financial year 2019, the corporate finance segment
contributed segment revenue and segment results by approximately
HK$1.3 million and HK$1.2 million respectively. Such contribution
mainly came from business activities such as placing and underwriting
of new shares.

For the asset management segment, the revenue of approximately
a decrease by
approximately 12.6%, which was mainly due to the decrease in

HK$2.2 million in the current financial year,
performance fees income obtained during the year. The asset
management segment in current year contributed segment results
amounted to approximately HK$0.6 million which was decreased by
approximately 59.1% when comparing with approximately HK$1.6
million in preceding year.

Property Investment

Property investment was one of our core business segments which
provides strong driving force to our Group during the current financial
year, and this is able to provide a reliable income stream to our Group
with notable capital appreciation of our investment properties. Our
directors spent extra effort in the property investment segment which
aims to mitigate the business risk as a result of the securities market
volatiles and maintain long term and sustainable economic benefit to
our Group.

During the current financial year, the property investment segment,
which represented mainly the provision of property management and
rental services, contributed approximately HK$106.5 million in segment
revenue. The operating results from the segment was approximately
HK$100.3 million which was higher than the preceding year's
approximately HK$79.8 million.

As at 31t March, 2019, the fair value of our investment properties
accounted for approximately HK$1,686.0 million, with the net fair value
appreciation of approximately HK$175.0 million recorded during the
year.

Precious Metal Trading

During the current financial year, this segment loss was approximately
HK$0.7 million which was similar to the segment loss of approximately
HK$0.7 million in the preceding financial year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Administration Performance
The administrative and other operating expenses for the current
financial year amounted to approximately HK$26.8 million, similar to
that of the preceding year. There was a decrease of the administrative
expenses to revenue ratio of approximately 14.0% when comparing with
approximately 21.1% in 2018.

Prospects

The external environment faced by the Hong Kong economy in 2019
is expected to be challenging, and the economic outlook is subject
to considerable uncertainties. Nevertheless, while the risk of an
imminent escalation of the U.S. and China trade conflicts remained,
investors could prudently assess and plan for the potential investment
opportunities in the development of nearby regions of Hong Kong.

For instance, as indicated in the outline development plan promulgated
by the PRC government authority, Hong Kong together with the nine
cities in Guangdong province will be developed into an international
metropolis with enhanced competitiveness namely the Greater
Bay Area. The opportunities for Hong Kong brought about by the
development of the Greater Bay Area involve fostering diversified
development of its economy and industries and expanding space for
living and development of Hong Kong residents. It will be beneficial to
seize opportunities brought about by the development of the Greater
Bay Area.

Facing such complicated investment environment, our Group will
continue to work on prudence amid challenges and maintain a cautious
approach to regularly review and adjust our business strategies in
due occasion. We strive to look for other investment opportunities to
contribute a long term economic benefit to our shareholders.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 24" June, 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ¢

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$371.1 million (2018: HK$588.6 million) of which
approximately HK$10.0 million (2018: HK$10.0 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$452.0 million (2018: HK$152.0 million)
to secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31t March, 2019
the Group had available aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$468.0 million (2018: HK$168.0 million) of which HK$468.0 million
(2018: HK$168.0 million) was not utilised.

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group’s borrowings decreased to
approximately HK$2.8 million from approximately HK$3.6 million as at
31t March, 2018.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31t March, 2019, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$2.8 million (2018: HK$3.6 million). The gearing
being equal to approximately 0.1% (2018: 0.1%) of the net assets of
approximately HK$2,642.9 million (2018: HK$2,491.2 million).

Capital Structure
There was no significant change in the Group’s capital structure for the
year ended 31t March, 2019.

As at 31t March, 2019, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$2,642.7 million (2018:
HK$2,491.7 million). The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as
at the reporting date was HK$0.99 (2018: HK$0.93).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and the majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars (“US$”) and Macau Pataca (“MOP”"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities,
which are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency
of the Group and the Company.

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is
insignificant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE S W R 2 M

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with fair value of approximately HK$1,462.0 million (2018:
HK$1,290.0 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31% March, 2019, the Group has provided guarantee to certain
financial institutions as follow:

SEEEMRT
RZFE-NLhE=ZA=Z+—-H HA£EE#H
E#1,462,000,0008 . (Z T — )\ F :
1,290,000,000/ L) B TIREMECLEH -
DEBETFASEZ —MRITRHE -

HAEE
—NE=ZA=1—R FEEZRHERF
THBEBEDOT

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (BB TFITREN) “E-hF —E-N\F
The guarantees given by the Company and its KRB REMBRARIABYE=H

subsidiaries to financial institutions in respect LPMBEHREERIADGEE

of facilities to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
The guarantees given by the Company to KRR BEMNB ARG T BEE

financial institutions in respect of facilities ERUREBEE

granted to subsidiaries 452,000 152,000

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it is
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the
guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31%
March, 2019 is HK$Nil (2018: HK$NIl).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of

these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$Nil (2018: HK$NIil).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% # 4 M 47 B A 5)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group had 43 staff including those staff
of Macau (2018: 41). For the year ended 31 March, 2019, the staff
costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$15.5 million (2018:
HK$14.3 million), approximately 8.1% and 11.5% of the Group’s
revenue in financial years 2019 and 2018 respectively.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices, market remuneration and individual’s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual’s performance.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not a have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.

DIVIDEND

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the AGM,
the Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0
cents per ordinary share (2018: HK1.8 cents per ordinary share and a
special dividend of HK1.8 cents per share) in respect of the year ended
31st March, 2019 to all shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 13" September,
2019. If approved, the payment of the final dividend will be made on or
about 27" September, 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE S W R 2 M

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM”) will be
convened and held on Friday, 30" August, 2019. Notice of the AGM
will be published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and sent to the
shareholders of the Company together with the Company’s 2019 Annual
Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
26" August, 2019 to Friday, 30" August, 2019, both days inclusive,
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 August, 2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 11" September, 2019 to Friday, 13" September, 2019,
both dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers can
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
10" September, 2019.
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip”), aged 73, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’'s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant. He has
more than 25 years of public administration and more than 15 years of
public company management experience in Hong Kong and Britain. He
has extensive consultancy experience across industry sectors. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Ip does not hold directorship in any other listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 61, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master’s degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master's degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. Most recently, he was commissioned by
the University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.
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Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 40, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor's degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 46, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 21 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok"), aged 55, is an executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Company’s property investment segment. Mr. Mok
received his Bachelor’s Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (currently the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Architectural
Technologists. Prior to joining the Company, he had served with Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited as Deputy General Manager
(Commercial) involved in various projects in Hong Kong and Macau
and as associate director in Widnell Limited involved in building and
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships in other Hong Kong or
overseas listed public companies in the last three years. He also holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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Independent Non-Executive Directors BUKHTES &1
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is an independent ~ BRR&SE4 ([BREL]) » 5257 AARTANEL _ @
non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member FHITEE BZLECTF  FHEELZE "‘t\

of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination RIRZZEEZEE - KEARNEAHRAEEH
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan holds two master degrees in @3B+ 24 R ERE LS - BIEEZE
Practising Accounting and Business Law from Monash University, ZEX&®K - BAFAEHMASE RS 1R B
Australia. Professionally, he is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of M&@:HMASEETEE « HEEHWMERITHRA
Certified Public Accountants, CPA Australia, The Institute of Chartered EB# &€& RX€8 - FALAANEZREEFe+
Secretaries and Administrators in UK, The Hong Kong Institute of ZHEEZE2eB8 528 EEEFFLNKEZEee
Company Secretaries, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and is a B ' BMNAREReHMALARER LA -
member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He is  FEHRTEGE+ » HESKERHFEBETRT
also an associate of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants FRFHeRFH[BHFETRIEK - FEEZA
of Australia, and The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is awarded BeEETBEARBAHESZEREEYMEE
with “Chartered Banker” by the Chartered Institute of Bankers in @®KELZERFAZEREA HBREBEET
Scotland, UK. Currently, he is a Standing Member and Convenor of HeRBERFWER UREFEESR —f’E
Hong Kong members of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative {REEZEEHKES -BRELEN-_TTNE
Conference of Yunfu City of Guangdong Province, Vice Chairman and ——¢Faﬁ?%%ffﬁ%\/’é%ﬁ‘lﬁﬁ@%M%J:EFF%El
secretary general of China Hong Kong Macau Boundary Crossing ©Z%E - KIBF—HLHARETHMNBETER
Bus Association, and honorary standing director of Guangdong’s RIZEEMAKIE - HEENMARBREERAR
Association For Promotion of Cooperation Among Guangdong, Hong  ( Em M5 : 0768) 2 BV EHITES R E
Kong and Macau. Mr. Chan was appointed as member of the Board of ZZE® HFMEEeRiELZEE€TH K
Review (Inland Revenue) of HKSAR from 2009 to 2011. Currently, he is X BEEI RELEBE=ZFRAEETMES
the managing director of a transportation company which is a subsidiary R EBEINELFTIH ETHEMAR A PE
of a listed company. He is also an independent non-executive director (FEEBK - HINEERET ARG RAEEEM
and chairman of the audit committee, remuneration committee and % 82 5] ZE (A E b H T -

nomination committee of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).

Other than as disclosed above, Mr. Chan holds no directorship in other

public companies listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or

overseas now or in the past three years and he does not hold any other

position with the Company and other members of the Group.

Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 66, is an independent ERHEEE (ELAE]) 665 BARAZE
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman I/ TES BEHEZESEE THES 23
of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination FENRZZEESTE - é%i%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ka
Committee of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University #EXEBLEf YREBFI X AKLEETLH
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master's Degree &I+ E7 - RBBIOFEN TIESERT - &%
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. 4 SEH%1T%  HES  SHEEAWHETHE
Having more than 40 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well £ #BALEFRREERENLIE B
respected across industries, ranging from advertising, marketing ZEE@KELRHRBEEDEEER  UREBEEM
to public relations. He previously served as Head of Corporate ERAETZEL (BRAEREMEREETE
Communications of the Hospital Authority, assistant director of  £) (M5 : 0823) 2 BT RALIE A (EEES o
Corporate and Community Relations of the Housing Authority and & FitiEIN - BEERBE=SEXBERER
director of Government and Community Engagement of the Link Real G/ME[ FMARIEFESHE  HIEEER
Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823). Save as disclosed above, AR RAEBEMAKS AR 2@ EMEEAL o
Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in

Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not

hold any other position with the Company and other members of the

Group.
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Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 40, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui holds
Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in Applied
Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance)
from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA
Australia. Mr. Hui has over 13 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance. As at the
date of this report, he is an independent non-executive director of Prime
Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (Stock code: 8379). He was also a
non-executive director of Huge China Holdings Limited (now known as
Cocoon Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 0428) during the period from
23 March, 2018 to 28" June, 2018. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hui
does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong
or overseas during the past three years and he does not hold any other
position with the Company and other members of the Group.

Company Secretary

Mr. YUEN Shing Him (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 33, is the company secretary
and the authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Yuen obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 8
years of experience in accounting, auditing and corporate finance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 315 March, 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and property
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” from pages 5 to 8 and pages 9 to 12 of this
annual report respectively. These discussion form part of this director’s
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note
5 and note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. Environmental
policies and performance are discussed in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 46 to 56 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 8(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and associate at 31% March,
2019 are set out in note 37 and note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March, 2019 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 64.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 13" September, 2019.
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SHARE CAPITAL

#*® REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

B
BRAD ARAZ B HERRGA BB REN
30

FINANCIAL SUMMARY BHBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group AT AREENBERBENKERE Z £EREE
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary does not HEEZHE - WEEYWELBERESMBRRE
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements. ZEB R o

RESULTS ES

During the year ended 31 March,
BEZA=1T-HLFE

(In HK$'000) (UEMTFTHRBEN) 2018 2017 2016 2015
Revenue Wz 124,642 317,515 443,398 259,467
Profit before taxation e 5 5 165,504 234,084 520,223 317,267
Income tax expenses FTiS R X (1,921) (8,234) (2,022) (1,850)
Profit for the year attributable RERAQT

to owners of the Company wE AR

F R F 163,603 225,867 518,309 315,407
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
As at 31t March,
R=ZBA=+—H

(In HK$'000) (LB TF o BE ) 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total assets BEEE 2,903,628 2,713,372 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248
Total liabilities BERE (260,762)  (222,205)  (269,976)  (191,550)  (368,190)
Net assets BEFE 2,642,866 2,491,167 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058
RESERVES ]

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the BEREFRNZ NEERANFEEHEHBELD
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and  BIER G AT B R LGS M B REM T35 -
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share premium
of the Company is available for paying dividend to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends can be distributed out of the share premium, contributed
surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend of the Company which
in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$371.1 million as at 31
March, 2019 (2018: HK$424.4 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March, 2019,
resulting an increase in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$175.0 million (2018: HK$115.0 million) which has been recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 16
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March, 2019, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 24% (2018: 20%) of the
Group’s revenue, of which no customer of the Group has contributed
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group (2018: no customer of the
Group has contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group).

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal
activities of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-executive directors
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive directors
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan

Brief biographical details in respect of the directors are set out in the
“Biography of directors and senior management” from pages 13 to 16 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 116 of the Company’'s Articles of
Association, Dr. SZE Ping Fat, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and
Mr. POON Kai Tik shall retire by rotation from office at the AGM and
being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect
of the year ended 31t March, 2019 from each of the independent
non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing
Rules. Up to and as at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his/her favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Property
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no major customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship with them to create
value for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of
its employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31t March, 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

EERNEN kR
BRTXBAEXSRFERER S| —HMKRE
ZEKSN  AREHEEFANE R B ESETT
VERRFLELFREMERANALER - MA
AAEENATERIAEBAEEAERLHA
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EERIBARABRAL ARAARE L
ARG BERGRESZEERAR

RZFB-NF=ZA=1+—H FRAZEFHT
BUIBABRARAHEMEREE (FERE
G RGIEXV) 2B - Bk RESF
ATz s lAR  AREE S RAE G
SEXVERFT7 K87 B A A & A A B J B X BT O 4
@ (BRREES VAR RO BRGXAERE
EIBRFEEORERAR)  RARBESZK
HERPIEI52GRAE N %A E s e fi
FERBELEMRAEFTETESFXFNRETR
ZHREMGRNE LB

Number of shares
RH%E
Personal
interests Family
(held as interests Percentage
heneficial (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of Director owner) of spouse) interests interests Total  share capital
PN 5 FERE BE{j]
Esp? (REEEAA) (RS EEER EfpgR & RAEAM
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AL ASREE0.01ETZ
in the Company EER
CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (Note 1) gER (i) - - 190272149 - 1992721496 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) Bfgf (#é1) - - 1992721496 - 1992721496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Note 2) REHWH2) 1,200,000 1,394,190 - - 2,594,190 0.10%

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% # 4 M 47 B A 5)
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Note 1: As at 31t March, 2019, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31t March, 2019, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director of the

Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in 2,594,190
shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associate a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or
executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition in
shares or debentures of the Company or its associate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 315t March, 2019, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31t March, 2019, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of shareholder

Number of shares held

RRARFAzZRBREBRD 2ER

+ o8
=
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x
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Z-AF=A=1+—H" THALIEEH®
AR AR KRR 17 85% A £ 2 B in #
RREMAGARR  UWAREES LHE K
PE336MEMR T AL BN EERRE LM
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3
u

31

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

BREREE FREBERREY HERTROBED L
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each AAEEREME0OIBITZ

in the Company s8R
CCAA (Note) CCAA(f1:#) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: ldentical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March, 2019, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31t March, 2019.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% # 4 M 47 B A 5)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i) were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA
Group”) dated 26" January, 2016, various members of the Group
entered into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which
would constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT”) on the
part of the Group for the years ending 31¢ March, 2017, 2018 and 2019.
The relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have been
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30" March, 2016.
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CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group has operated a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately in an independently managed
fund. The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income.
The contributions, amounting HK$472,000 (2018: HK$432,000), are
charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 31% March, 2019, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. Two of them
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The
main duties of the Audit Committee include the review of the relationship
with external auditors of the Company, review of financial information of
the Group and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TCEERERTA 5
The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by BB LTHEE EPBEUFLEESR _ @(ﬂ
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code HRTH ([EEATH ) R4z HE "“3\
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new ERSFE| UNIMABRE EMETAFRAESE

Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to (> %5885 7 # F 2 4223 ¢

be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of  BIEZ<FRIZ FAETEALIE  REERS
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including TEIME  BEZIENTEE (BIEE L IEHNT
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.  E%) WESTAH  WIREZ T2 TAEX
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code. HA4.11& - AT 2EAMESELTAATE
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under 4 Z 2 MBI E 11618 2R EIE - AL AR A
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such, RADENEHIEE UBRAQATZLESS
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to R NENRZTAIFFEE -

ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less

exacting than those in the Code.

[

A

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY BEET
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions AR & 24 BN SR 10MTE L RITAE
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix  FEETHEEFRXH ZZESFR|([ZAESFEI]) o &
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors R alE:E 2 BEZHER KERFRA—EE
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set ~ RRIZME<FRIFR&E 2 EHEHF o

out in the Model Code throughout the year.

5R 5 2 BETH

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES EERBERERP2ER
As at 31t March, 2019, none of the Directors and their associates WR-ZE—HE=A=+—H FBSRFEZELEY
had any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to B A TR H 278 M A A7) 278 5 35 o #

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business. %EX AR N RTFCERTRER MR
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT RARBERE

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company RIEAATESZ AHENRBEESHA A%
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the ATHEERRATZRMOTADRARRDEST
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than  J& {7 #2£125% -

25% of the Company's total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are  ARARIHTEEARE J&%%ﬁ%ﬁ’\$¢$&%29i
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 45 of this 45B 7 ¥ EABREE

Annual Report.
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AUDITORS

As disclosed in the announcement dated 5" March, 2019, Li, Tang,
Chen & Co. has resigned as the auditors of the Group with effect from
5" March, 2019 as the Company and Li, Tang, Chen & Co. cannot reach
a consensus with the Group on the audit fee for the financial year ended
31t March, 2019.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been appointed by the Board
as the new auditors of the Group with effect from 5" March, 2019 to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of Li, Tang, Chen & Co.
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited shall hold office until the conclusion
of the next AGM of the Company.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 24" June, 2019

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% # 4 M 47 B A 5)
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The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standard of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31%
March, 2019, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the

Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout year ended 31t March, 2019, except for the following:

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31st March, 2019, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho. Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have
appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise. All
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standard of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 13 to 16 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling,
Annie.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinising the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. They conduct regular meetings with the
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries and associate,
at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meetings are held no less than four times a year. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings
with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) without the presence of executive Directors at least once
every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.
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Board Diversity Policy

the Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company. The Company views the increasing board
diversity as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In determining
the composition of the Board, a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service are
taken into account in respect of the diversity of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
selected based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be made by the Board will
be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions to be made
to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has responsibilities to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships and on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the skills mix,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Nomination Committee will also review the Board diversity policy,
as appropriate and review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board diversity policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board members
as at 31% March, 2019:

EFTEZULBE
EXERBETESLLER ((EFEEZLILR
K] NEBARAMNAKENTERR - AR
ARENEFEZ T ARRRBEBERLEE
FRNBEBTE -GERTEFGNARE €%
REFENZTl BREETRRUER - Fik -
XERBEER Bk FELR - K8 AH
EREEHTASAR - REREFZLLE
HMAEEENZRERUBAEST  TUARE
BERBREA EFEREE-RZEEANK
HRHEESORRMIERERE -

REZBEGFEMVECABABERTERES
WAL THRERZBBALHEESIHURA
EZeRHEANARKARNEERBR AR
BEMRE  MH - EREZTAES  RRIET
FEMZEESUARIRE  THRASRETHEN
FREENEFGRIES

REZEENFHEERNTRIEEES LI
BEREBHESERANTEETE L TLICREM 5
ERAERRMERERE -

RZZE-—NFZA=+—H EFg2%t{t#
T

Gender Age Group Professional Experience
15 Egan ExiE
Business  Accounting Law and Property

Male  Female 40to60 60orabove Management and Finance Litigation Development
Name of Directors EE:E Bzt 40EE60R  60EIUL EREER  enREE  ieHFd NEER
Mr.IPMan Tin, David (Chaiman) ~ EBX%4(28) / / /
Dr. SZE Ping Fat HBmEEL / / /
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie PERME / / / / /
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew et bk / v v /
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang BEERE / / / /
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRELE / / / /
Mr. POON Kai Tik RS / v /
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FUERE / / /
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Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and distribute dividend to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividend does not affect the normal
operations of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

- the general financial condition of the Group:

- capital and debt level of the Group;

- future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

- the general market conditions;

- any restrictions on payment of dividend that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any

restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles
of Association of the Company.
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Meetings

Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted

in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be

counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman

of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31t March, 2019, the Board held
6 Board meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all

Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles

of association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board

and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the
individual Directors are as follows:

EZERRESZZEEERZER

CHPEFEIRNEESTEREER
REFURUBENATRECE
cMEMEFRAREENIZHTE
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EXHERBEALFABERAIREEERT
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ZREBRFANEFREFEEENEESEREES
B HEERIAT

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

HEER/ BREENY
Extra
Executive Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual Ordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee General General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EZe #U1ZBE BHNZEE HHWZEEE ReZE% & &
EEpg EE EE EE EE k] BEXE BHXE
Total number of meetings EEAY 6 3 2 1 1 1 1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ¥EX%% (/) 6 NATEE NAMER  NATER  NATER 1 1
Dr. SZE Ping Fat BREEL 6 NATER NATER NATER  NATER 1 1
Executive Directors HiTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie HERME 6 3 NATER 1 1 1 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew B fa% 4 6 3 NAMER NATER  NATER 1 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang ERELE 6 3 NAMER NATER  NATER 1 1
Independent Non-executive ~ BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRERE 6 NATER 2 1 1 1 1
Mr. POON Kai Tik BRHBEE 6 NATGER 2 1 1 1 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FERE 6 NATER 2 1 1 1 1
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board
as a whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. For the
financial year ended 31 March, 2019, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and provided the
Company with their records of training. A summary of training records
provided by the current Directors is as follows:

Reading articles, newspapers,
journal and/or updates
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Attending trainings
and/or seminars
MEXE #]E

Name of Directors BEENSF WHE,/SBHEN LEEER/SHAE
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) EEXEE(FE) 4 v
Dr. SZE Ping Fat iR v v
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie gE¥% /N E v v
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEmEE v v
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang SEEkE v 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FEHITES

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRELE v 4
Mr. POON Kai Tik BRI A v 4
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FUE A v v

Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is good information flow within
the Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Company secretary
has provided his training records to the Company indicating his
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.
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Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman is separated from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUlI Man Ho. lvan have the appropriate
professional accounting experiences and expertise. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
legal, professional securities and/or accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company

and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance;

- active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associate;
- approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and

opportunities;

- monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

- reviewing of the Compliance with the CG Code;
- monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of

management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction;

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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- ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics; and

- reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee was revised and approved on 18" July, 2005 and 16"
March, 2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of
the relationship with the auditors and financial information of the Group.
The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As at 31t March, 2019, the Audit Committee of the Company is
comprised of three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho,
Ivan. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly
to the Board and reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as
financial statements and internal controls, to protect the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2019:

to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- to auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of review representation;

- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports by the internal audit
function and discuss the risk management and internal control
issues of the Group;

- review of the 2019 internal audit plan; and

- review of the updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions and their training
programmes and budget, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as external
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 318 March, 2019, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan and an executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON Kai Tik is appointed as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee shall meet not
less than once every year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been reviewed with reference to the CG Code.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. Set out below is the summary of work of the
Remuneration Committee done in financial year 2019:

to review the remuneration policy for the financial year 2019;

to review the terms of reference of remuneration of committee;

to review the policy for the remuneration of the Directors; and

to review the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2019. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 215t March,
2012 comprising one executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
which is available on the Company’s website, set out details of the
Committee’s duties, powers and functions, nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship of the Company, summary of which in the
financial year 2019 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy;

- toreview the size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and length of service) of the Board annually; and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

it ¥ B A

&

FMEEe IRETARI R ERALEAH

ﬁa& BEREBHFMZBE  RATHTEER _ -_.f?i?'
CEWEY WAL (BEBYHN - BKE R,

FE?’F'J&%%E:\HM) CURREFEREIFNTE
SERBUFRTEFTZHM - UTHEFMEER
ER-_E-NFUHHEREZTHEHRE:

A*— —

- BEE-NAFHBRFEIHFHEER

- BREFHZESRERE

- BROEFZHFMBR K

- BEFEBRERK(WE) -
RBE-_T-NFZA=+T—HULHRFE -
MEEQ@ERTIRGH - 8 Wﬁzﬂjrﬁ\
R EX-

REEEE
E%F:%fiizﬂ*-kfﬂﬁij%%%%

B RRTESRBRER/ MIR=RBIIEH
ﬁﬁ%é%&kf‘ﬁi CBRRERERFOEREA
B WRERGEEEEETRE - ARRABEUEE

HERMCRAZEeRERE FHZZE
SRE  BOMBE - B ﬁ&@%ék}\iﬂu)\

ARREFG AR - BRENEN H-F
“NEHBFRZATRZEINMT -

- ETRLEFZHR

- BAREBEFSZITICBRONT

- SERVEFTEMRERRERE (BRERKE -
ME - KRERBERETE)  AHAR

AERRBORTAEST SR L TN
B

39

Annual Report 2019 F 4%



4.0

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it ¥ & B ® &

- toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2019. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appoint as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider of directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

- Reputation for integrity;

- Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

- Diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.
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Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each departments
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets regularly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a regular basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;

- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and

- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investments are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group’s
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure; and
internal control systems of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for
improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the

Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The Board,
of resources, training programmes, budget,

through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill the
requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal

control systems in general.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.
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Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

External Auditors

During the year ended 31t March, 2019 the remuneration payable or
paid to the Group’s existing external auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (2018: Li, Tang, Chen & Co.), are set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group

PO

EEEBMUHRERBIERERAREF2E
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FNEEHRTES ASREERRZZEE
fIzREEFE  BRABELAEERNZBRARNE
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B EmRA
RAEERN AREEX2ETLTRAUCE
Ko AEBEREEMARR 2R EREKLTIZHN

237
EFEHERERET B2 ERERTANE
RESEHNENBEEFS - EDRUERMAE
RURFEEEAEE HE - BH 2 ABES
FALDRAMAES -

SN BE
RBE-E-NF=ZA=+—-RIEFEN K&
B 3 E RSN AR BN B 8 & &t B B A5 AT
BRAR(ZZ2-NF : FZRGAMEBHR) 2
MEEsmT

EAE B R 2R 2019 2018
(In HK$°000) (UM FrBENN) —ZE-hE —E-N\F
Audit services EIZIR 602 695
Non-audit and taxation services JEEZ MR IR 30 25

632 720

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% # 4 M 47 B A 5)
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Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 57
to 63.

Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An AGM held on 31¢t August, 2018, the Chairman of the Board and the
representative of external auditors were available to answer questions
at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures
of conducting a poll during the meeting. All resolutions were proposed
by the Chairman at the AGM and voted separately by way of poll. All the
votes cast at the said meeting were properly counted and recorded.

Shareholder’s Right and Investor Relations

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) is pleased to present the ESG report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31t March, 2019.

GUIDING PRINCIPLE

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the requirements
contained in Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”") Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The ESG Report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and
selected Key Performance Indicators (“KPI") that are material to the
Group and its stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 31%
March, 2019. We have fully embraced social responsibility as our
contribution to address the ESG requirements and challenges society
faces. We have implemented a number of significant initiatives relating
to employment and labour practices, operation management and
environmental protection.

REPORTING PERIOD
The information included in this report covers the period from 1t April,
2018 to 31t March, 2019, unless otherwise stated.

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
The policies, statements, data and other contents in this ESG report
encompass all business scopes of the Company, unless other stated.

ESG PHILOSOPHY

The Group considers that sustainable development as one of the core
values of the Group, and incorporates the concept of sustainable
development into business operations to create long-term value for
employees, customers, business partners, shareholders, investors and
the community.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

To report on this ESG Report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved to identify the most
significant aspects of ESG for the Group. Investors and shareholders
could voice out their opinions via email address provided on the
Company’s website, or through annual general meeting. In addition,
the Company has also set up a hotline to enable the stakeholders
to discuss and review areas which could help the business of the
Group in order to meet its potential growth and be prepared for
future challenges. The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback
on the approach and performance of ESG via the email address of
info@upbest.com.

The list underneath represents the significant issues based of the ESG
Reporting Guide which are considered to be material to the Group.
Based on management’s assessment, the issues and KPIs relevant to
this report’s disclosure are set out as follows:
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ESG Issues as set forth in
ESG Reporting Guide

A Environmental Issues

A1.1 Emissions

A1.2 Greenhouse gas
emissions

A1.3 Environmental and
Natural Recourses

B Social Issues

B1.1 Employment

B1.2 Health and safety

B1.3 Development and
training

B1.4 Labour standards

B1.5 Supply chain
management

B1.6 Services responsibility

B1.7 Anti-corruption/
anti-money
laundering

B1.8 Community investment
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Bl2BREL 2
B1.3 BEEREH
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B15 ftEEER

B16 RBEMT

Bl7RES/REE

B18 HRKE

Material KPI for our Group

Gaseous fuel consumption
Greenhouse gas emissions

Energy and Resources
consumption

Labour practices

Workplace health and safety

Employee development and
training

Anti-child and forced labour
compliance

Not Applicable

Services responsibility and
commitment

Anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering compliance

Community services,
employee volunteering and
donation
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Remarks

Not applicable to
the Group due to the
nature of business
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUE RIESEE

The Group treasures our resources and considers building a ZAEEREER TEZEEAUSEXRENIIER
sustainable working environment as an important aspect in our business  ERERMEKRBENEE 1R - AEFFET
strategies. The Group aims to prevent pollution, reduce carbon B ZEHFIHIBIEEBHUERE M - ABTLE)S
footprint, increase recycling and minimise consumption of natural 2 B AHEH - LA RIE IR B I E SR>
resources by continually improving our environmental management 5 A ERAEFE

practices and measures.

A1.1 Emissions A1 BER

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions  AREEWEZ (T EEERK REFHEEES
produced directly by the Group only related to the executive passenger HBIHMERRERTHEIRFHE - ERAH
vehicles used by senior executive staff’s local travel. H1TZ -

Below is the gaseous fuel consumption from the executive passenger EHAEEHEZE -_T—HNE=A=+—HIFE

vehicles of the Group during the year ended 31% March, 2019: ARFABMBEROREMANT

2019
Gaseous fuel consumption FBREERE —E-NF
Emission data from vehicles ER T2 38 8
Carbon dioxide (CO,) —atx 3,334.2 kg AfT
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) BEALY A 1,229.1 g
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) maly 20.5 g%
Particulate Matter (PM) R BER 90.5 gR
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions

During the year, there was approximately 125.4 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted from the Group’s
business operation which mainly represent the consumption of
electricity and papers.

B v f# g kR B

A2 BEREHMR

RER AEBEZERETHNT #1254
M_SIREERERE  TBREENNMAR

E"‘]/ﬁﬁ °

NN
/A

2019
Greenhouse Gas Emission BERBHER —E-NF
Scope 1 - Direct emissions or removals & E1— HE K
from sources 3.3 tonne WA
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions & B2 — R B 110.9 tonne M
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions EES— Hth I HE R 11.2 tonne M
Total it 125.4 tonne WA

A1.3 Energy and resources consumption

During operation, non-hazardous waste generated are mainly recycled
wastes. The Group considers that conservation of natural resources is
an important element for our sustainable business. We promote various
measures to efficiently use of our energy and resources as well as
effectively minimise wastage during our daily operation.

Details of energy and resources consumed during the year ended 31¢
March, 2019 are tabulated below:

A1 3RRNERERE
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2019
Energy and resources consumption BER A &R EAE —E-NF
Electricity = 5 140,436.7  kWh FRE
Water 7K 672 .1 mé K
Paper Fin 1,452.9 kg Af
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Measures to mitigate emissions

We recognise the importance of efficient use of energy and
resources. Due to the business nature, our major energy and resource
consumption are electricity, water and papers and with the efficient
use of such, we try our best to minimise the impact on the environment
whilst we grow our business.

We have provided environmental protection guideline to educate
our staff to adopt responsible behavior and promote environmental
protection in our work place and suggest ways to reduce the
consumption of resources.

We promote green office concept in our workplace to save our
electricity consumption. For instance, staff are reminded to set up the
temperature of air conditioner according to seasonal changes and
switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Energy
efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions.

To save papers, we encourage to use duplex printing for internal
documents. Facilities and procedures are in place for paper waste
recycling.

In addition to the measures as stated above, our Group also actively
participates in recycling schemes. Equipment such as computers,
printers, and toner cartridges are returned to suppliers for recycling. An
electronic platform is used within the Group for internal administration
and effective communication with all staff at office.

Our Group is committed to uphold the resources and environmental
protection in our business operation. In the future, we continue our
commitment in environmental protection into and strive to build a
greener and sustainable environment.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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SOCIAL ISSUES HERE
B1.1 Employment FE
Employees by age and gender ES i FH RIEF

Employees Distribution Turnover during the year

BEDH FRRK

Age Male Female Male Female
Fie S prgid B prgi:d
0-18 - - - -
19-30 - - - -
31-45 8 5 1 =
46-60 13 8 - -
61 or above 3 6 - -
Total 24 19 1 .
st
Our employees are the most important asset that can drive the EERAKMGEBELAE fREEHHREEEN

long-term development and sustainability of the Group. We provide
benefits to our employees including salaries, incentives, directors’
fees and contribution to defined contribution retirement scheme.
Remuneration and benefit packages are determined with reference
to the position, skills, capability and performance of employees. Our
human resources department is responsible to comply with the
applicable employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong:

o Employment Ordinance

. Minimum Wage Ordinance

o Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

J Sex Discrimination Ordinance

J Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o Race Discrimination Ordinance

J Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
o Occupational Safety & Health Ordinance
o Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

AREKREND N -RMAAEBRRRZENE
RHe BB EFRERTEHRZERNKS Jri\H
oo HMRAE SR 2RE TR - Rk
AMERRETH - ARENANERBPHAE
BTERREBNERLXEBAEEZIES -

. EEGED

. RIETE 5D

. & BB &0

. 14 71 052 4% 18451

. B IS AR 15 )

. R R (1 1548 1 91
. E&ﬁﬁhm

. o8 I ATE 2 5 B
. BEZ 2 REFRIEH
. {BAE R (FLER) 601
. By LE B B 15 31
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During the year ended 31¢ March, 2019, the Group has no known
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations. We endeavour to
provide a well-structured and caring working environment to raise the
sense of belonging and work efficiency of our employees in the Group.

B1.2 Health and Safety

Our Group strictly adhere to the laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety, for example, the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance. We seek to provide a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment for our employees to minimise any
adverse health and safety related impacts arising from our operation.

According to our record during the year ended 31 March, 2019, no
work-related fatalities or sick leave for work injury were taken from our
employees.

B1.3 Development and Training

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous development
and update of relevant laws and regulations. Employees, especially
those who are involved in the regulated businesses and activities,
have to receive continuous professional training including on-the-job
training, in-house regular meetings and training programs organised
by professional bodies to keep abreast of the latest market practices
and matters relating to our daily job duties. In-house regular meetings
and training are tailor-made by directors and senior management which

covered the key aspects as follows:

(1) Compliance and regulatory — general compliance, market and
regulatory updates, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data
privacy, the Money Lender’s Ordinance;

(2) Management skills and personal development — leadership
skills, supervisory skills, KPI setting, communication and
interpersonal skills, creative thinking and problem solving skills,
self-development skills; and

(3) General training - language skills, computer skills, debt
collection skills and customer service skills.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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Employees are encouraged to attend seminars and read prescribed
periodicals to update the industry and regulatory latest developments
for their continuing competence; and professional employees
are required to comply with continuous professional training and
examination requirements as stipulated in relevant regulations.

During the year ended 31¢ March, 2019, a total of 18 hours of
meetings and training have been provided by our directors and senior
management and the average training hours per employee was 8.6
hours.

B1.4 Labour Standard

Child or forced labour are prohibited in our Group’s operation which
was in compliance with the Employment of Children Regulations,
made under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). To avoid such
practices happened in our Group, our human resources department is
responsible to check the resume, original identification card and other
certificates of new jointers and potential candidates in order to eliminate
the possibility of child and forced labour in our employment. Human
resources department also communicate with the candidates’ preceded
employment for verification purposes.

During the year ended 31t March, 2019,
non-compliance cases in relation to the violation of relevant child labour

the Group had no

and forced labour laws.

B1.5 Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of principal business activities, we have no major
suppliers. The Group's suppliers include various computer system
and software vendors, providers of market information, legal advisers
and other business services professionals. The procurement decision
is based on criteria such as price, reputation, track record of high
corporate standards, expertise, capacity, creditability, business stability
and product/service quality which we consider such would not pose
significant social risks for our business. In order to minimize possible
disruptions of supply chain, our management from different departments
maintained a close dialogue with the suppliers. We also expect that our
suppliers are of high quality and operate in compliance with applicable
local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations.
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B1.6 Services Responsibility

The business activities of the Group are required to comply with the
rules and regulations of various regulators in Hong Kong such as Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission. The Group is responsible to comply with the
requirements of the rules and regulations in Hong Kong relating to our
services responsibility as below:

J Code of Conducts for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities & Future Commission

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)

J Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules

. Securities and Futures (Client Securities) rules

o Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance

J Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance

o Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

o United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance

The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage loan,
consumer finance and small business loans are provided through
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Money
Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLO”), being licensed money lenders. The Group
also provides margin financing to our clients through another wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”), being licensed margin financier. During the year,
our Group had no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws
or regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focuses on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee of our Group regularly review of the update of the code of
practice and relevant regulations to make sure compliance in various
business aspects such as customer relationship, know-your-client,
anti-money laundering, credit valuation, collection and recovery and
data privacy.
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We emphasise the importance of providing quality services to
our clients. All operational departments are responsible for the
implementation of the established policies and procedures based on
the internal control manuals set out by the Group. The internal control
manuals of our Group contain guidelines and implementation plans to

ensure:

. conduct business in an orderly and efficient manner;

o protect the security of the assets for the Group and our clients;

o maintain proper records and ensure reliability of financial
information and other information used by the Group;

o prevent and detect potential fraud; and

o comply with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.

The directors and compliance officer are responsible for overseeing
the day-to-day operations of departments and ensuring that the internal
control procedures are followed. In case of any complaint received from
our clients either verbally or in writing, the compliance department will
review such complaint to ensure that they are handled in a prompt and
appropriate manner. Our customer services hotline is set up to handle
complaints from clients. All valid complaints will be recorded monthly
by the compliance department. During the year ended 31t March, 2019,
we have received nil complaints from our clients.

Our Group emphasises on the importance of protecting privacy of our
clients in the collection, processing and use of their personal data
and is committed to the compliance of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and other relevant codes of practice issued by the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data.

We have a contractual obligation to protect information of our clients as
stated in the account opening agreements and treat their transactions
record and personal information as private and confidential, subject
to the disclosure requirements under the relevant laws, rules and
regulations.

During the year ended 31¢t March, 2019, we have received nil
complaints from our clients relating to the violation of the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance.
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B1.7 Anti-corruption/Anti-money Laundering

Our Group fully cooperate with the international drive against services
crime, drug trafficking and terrorism and is committed to assist
the authorities to identify money laundering and terrorist financing
transactions. We strict adhere to the applicable laws and rules in the
anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, including but not limited
to Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceed) Ordinance, Organised and
Serious Crimes Ordinance, Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing, and United Nation (Anti-Terrorism Measure)
Ordinance.

Our Group has implemented an effective whistle blower policy for
reporting fraud and corruption. We encourage employees to report
on suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels
specifically for this purpose. During the year ended 31% March, 2019, no
significant risks relating to corruption had been identified. There were
no confirmed incidents in relation to corruption or public legal cases
brought against the Group or its employees. Also, no whistle-blowing
concerning a criminal offence or misconduct was received during the
year.

B1.8 Community Investment

Our Group promotes social contribution of our member companies
to the local communities in which they operate, and attach much
importance to cultivating a sense of social responsibility among our
employees and encourage them to make better contributions to our
communities during and after work.

CONCLUSION

The Group believes that all information available has been included
in the ESG report in accordance with the Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules. We are highly committed to continue the ESG reporting on a
regular basis and to improve the policies and procedures related to
the measurement and monitoring mechanism of our ESG strategies
to facilitate a sustainable business environment. We will continue to
discuss with the Group’s stakeholders for future direction of ESG issue
in next reporting period.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 4 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 155, which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31t March, 2019,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 315 March,
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

BRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EMOARERTRERRERSR

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing

A7 SRR E RN TR B E B W RRRER

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHEAMBERERMF -+ —

As at 31%t March, 2019, the gross amounts of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing were approximately
HK$654,869,000 and HK$128,122,000 respectively. Accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$89,644,000 and HK$70,682,000
was provided for interest bearing receivables from loans and margin
financing respectively.
RZZE-NF=A=+—H0 MENSRKERKRFRAEEYFIANEE
7 Bl 7 #1654,869,0007% 7T )2 128,122,000/ 7T © B 9 RIFHI A F S BN E
MR B E M AR R REHRUEEE £189,644,000%8 7T % 70,682,000
/%713 °

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, impairment loss of approximately
HK$18,164,000 and HK$33,106,000 was provided for interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing respectively.
BE_Z-NEF=A=1T-BLEE HhsMEFEREKERRITRR
& O R YR IE 5T IR R E 518 4718,164,0007% 7T & 33,106,0007 7T °

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected credit
losses. Receivables relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed
individually for provision for impairment allowance. Expected credit
losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining receivables based
on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for
likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer
and its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit losses
experienced and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
EEREETHEBGERBRRER 2 o BE MR 2 sk 8 R IEK
FEEEARENEFABNEKSESEBTHREER BHEEES
BTeRBEXZEERRBREBERREKFBEETHAM  ZREP
ERARKEN SEHCERLAXEANSENEREAE  YH DA
RMEETERTLEUSE - BRGEERRXIREMEENELEEE
BEE  SHEUARME %%ﬁﬁiﬁwm BN E AT R AT LB RS -
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Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing
included, but were not limited to:
AMREREUMAMNEBNERRTRAEE
WRIETREMENRZFBEETIRR

o Understanding and validating the
credit control procedures performed
by management, including its
procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on
expected credit losses allowance of
receivables

. TRNBEE NN EEER
a%m%%ﬁﬁ%%mmkrﬂﬁ%%
KIEHE B RAEBHFE,

o Testing on a sample basis, the
accuracy of ageing profile of the
receivables by checking to the
underlying agreements;

. BB S AR 3 Mmi K AETR
ﬁ'WﬁﬂﬁfWE ﬂ%@ﬂ§%W
%Emﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ

° Testing on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of the receivables
against bank receipts; and

o AT SUE TR - BR1R A B R MR
EERITBERER A

o Obtaining management’'s assessment
on the expected credit losses
allowance of the receivables. Checking
management’s assessment based
on the historical settlement pattern,
correspondence with the customers,
evidence from external sources
including the relevant public search
results relating to the financial
circumstances of the relevant customers
and market research regarding the
relevant forward-looking information
used in management’s assessment.
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BROARERTRERRERSER

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing (Continued)

BB 7 BB R E AN TR BB B WA AYIRUE R A4 ()

Valuation of investment properties

REME2MGE

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties to be approximately HK$1,686,000,000 as at 31% March,
2019 with a net gain on fair value changes for the year ended 31¢
March, 2019 recorded in the consolidated income statement of
approximately HK$175,000,000. Independent external valuations were
obtained in respect of all of the portfolio of the Group.
ERERMFTEER-ZE—NF=ZA=T—BREVENAAEBLAR
1,686,000,0008 T * RBE_E-NF=A=+—RIEFEHFaRELXD
NAEEEFEF4175,000,0008 T - EEMAREESHMEBLINE
ftfE -

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a key
audit matter because of the significance of investment properties
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant judgment and
estimation, including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology
and market data.

RMBAEERENENGEABRERER RERAREVRUSELR
RUBBRECEEZURRATEZREESERNAG R AEEES
BRRHEERTISEHR

o Examining the underlying documentation
supporting the value of the collateral, if
any, and the management’s key estimations
used in the individual impairment assessment
for these loans and receivables on a
sample basis;

. EEXHEARBECRERER (WA)
R E 18 B Bt 45 L B R % JE W R IE {8 R
RUMEL T ik P ER R 2 B 82 (i 5T 1T H R
=

o Reviewing the fair value of collateral
for all impaired amounts.

. RAEREHR  FEEMRIATE-

We considered management’s conclusion to
be consistent with the available information.
BMRAEEENERERAEE B -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included,
but were not limited to:
BMEBEREBURENEMENEFAFET
R

o Evaluating the independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

. & IMNEM A 2 KRB ENAME
Bl

° Assessing the methodologies used

and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions and parameters based on
our knowledge of the property industry
and using our audit valuation experts;
and

. BREZMEEHETENDRREAR
MBS AR P R 7505 - s
REMB2BNBEE M A

U Checking, on sample basis, the
accuracy and relevance of the input
data used.

. VAR B 77 S A 2 P PR B A BB O E T
MAERIE -

We found the key assumptions were
supported by the available evidence.

BMBERREBBEHARRERR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B Y % B B ® &

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31t March, 2018 were audited by another auditors who expressed an
unmodified opinion on 25" June, 2018.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion sole to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design, and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

@ o

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B Y % B M ® S

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters, that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 24" June, 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

= & W & ®

For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i

Notes 2019 2018
(In HK$°000) (LB T T B Ef7) Bt E —E-NE —E-)N\F
Revenue g 8 191,589 124,642
Cost of goods sold RO - (7,272)
Other revenue H e zs 869 938
Net impairment loss of financial assets M EEEEFRE 9 (51,216) (34,946)
Net increase in fair value of investment  HBEMEAL B2 FHE
properties 17 175,000 115,000
Net loss on financial assets at fair value ZEAREREZESEY
through profit or loss BB EEFER 11 - (2)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and  HE&EW¥ - KERZERT
equipment [y 7,047 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & M B A R FTE & 2 % Fl 32 - 3
Administrative and other operating THREEMEERS
expenses (26,807) (26,325)
Finance costs A& B 10 (186) (379)
Share of results of an associate BB E DR 2 %E (5,708) (6,155)
Profit before taxation % BB A 11 290,588 165,504
Income tax expenses PrE MR < 14 (28,039) (1,921)
Profit for the year F W& T 262,549 163,583
Attributable to: G
Owners of the Company KAFEE A 254,624 163,603
Non-controlling interests FEIE R e 7,925 (20)
262,549 163,583
Earnings per share B EF HK cents HK cents
B il
Basic and diluted ERR#E 13 9.5 6.1
Final dividend REKRE 15 53,646 48,282
Special dividend HRIRE 15 = 48,282

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ & £ [l 47 Bt A +])
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= & &2 E Wk & =

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

2019 2018 —
(In HK$'000) (BT T BENR) —E-hE S
D
Profit for the year FREA 262,549 163,583
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hitn2m (B%) s
Item that may be reclassified BRI ER IR
subsequently to profit or loss Bm s EHEH
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEEES L
translation of foreign operations b X =% (2,950) 4,954
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 2EHMPE (BR)/
for the year, net of tax Wogs (Big%ME) (2,950) 4,954
Total comprehensive income for RAREEABEER
the year attributable to owners of PHKREHE
the Company 259,599 168,537
Attributable to: FEfh -
Owners of the Company ViNETESZ DN 251,674 168,557
Non-controlling interests FEER 7,925 (20)
259,599 168,537

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

KM BRI EREHIBRROAKED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= a8 B B KK R =

As at 31* March, 2019 R =F—hE=H=+—H

Notes 2019 2018
(In HK$°000) (BB TFTREN) Bt E —E-AEF —E-)N\E
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R KRR 16 1,065 1,290
Investment properties WEME 17 1,686,000 1,511,000
Intangible assets BREE 18 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate REERNR 2 R 19 39,265 47,923
Available-for-sale financial assets A ENKEE 20 - 136
Trade receivables g 5 W E 21 97,999 169,959
Other assets Hi&EE 22 5,400 5,200
Deferred tax assets ELERBEE 14 1,251 6,204
1,833,020 1,743,752
Current assets nEBEE
Inventories "E 23 20 20
Properties held for development BHEREYE 24 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, deposits B REMEKRTIE -
and prepayments e RENKIEA 21 695,239 376,054
Tax recoverable EEEEE 1,211 1,937
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 25 371,127 588,598
1,070,608 969,620
Current liabilities nEEE
Borrowings B 26 2,769 3,599
Amounts due to related parties JE < B e A £ 5K08 27 1,274 2,120
Amount due to ultimate holding company &~ & &= i A rl 08 28 166,795 99,309
Creditors and accrued expenses BAERRENER 29 76,556 116,619
Provision for taxation T 15 s 13,368 558
260,762 222,205
Net current assets RBEEFE 809,846 747,415
Net assets BETME 2,642,866 2,491,167

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 2
= M &% R R Kk LS

i
As at 31" March, 2019 A 22— hE=ZH=1+—H

—E-N\F = ﬁf

Notes 2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (BB FrREN) By ex —ZE-hF
Capital and reserves EXRKf#E
Share capital N 30 26,824 26,824
Reserves {1 2,562,232 2,368,340
Proposed dividend R B 15 53,646 96,564
Equity attributable to owners of the RRRHEE NEL RS

Company 2,642,702 2,491,728
Non-controlling interests MRS 164 (561)
Total equity ERAE 2,642,866 2,491,167

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24"
June, 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
BEMR
Executive Director

HITEE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

FOAEBEAZRAMBRRECEEZTEN_F
—NERATHA#ERREEL LB TIE

ERERE

Cheng Wai Ling, Annie

Bk

Executive Director

HiTEF

BRI IR ERE HIBERROEKED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i

Attributable to owners of the Company

63

EEALAIREA
Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity

(In HK$'000) (HEEFrAEL) Rx  RHEE EEEE  EARE  REEA  BRRE B FEREE  BRAE
As at 1 April, 2017 RZZ—+ERA-A 26,824 304,284 8,515 (5,073) 1,988,621 48282 2,371,453 (541) 2370912
Profit/(loss) for the year Epifl/ (5i8) - = = - || 163603 - || 163603 (20) || 163,583
Qther comprehensive income FEEEDZENE

for the year - - - 4,954 - - 4,954 - 4,954
Total comprehensive income/ AE2ENE/ (BB 68

(loss) for the year - - - 4954 163,603 - 168,557 (20) 168,537
Dividend paid BHRE = = . - - 4828 (48282) S8
Proposed dividend RERE - - - - (96,564) 96,564 = - =
As at 31 March, 2018 RZE-NE=f=1-A 26,824 304,284 8,515 (119) 2,055,660 9,564 2,491,728 (561) 2,491,167
Adjustment (note 2) BEWHZ) - = - - (4,136) = (4,136) - (4,136)
As at 1 April, 2018 (restated) RZE-\EMA-H

(7)) 26,824 304,284 8,515 (119) 2,051,524 9,564 2,487,592 (561) 2,487,031

Profit for the year ERigi] - - - - || 4624 - || 254,62 7925 || 262549
Other comprehensive loss FEEENZEER

for the year - - - (2,950) - - (2,950) - (2.950)
Total comprehensive income/ AE2ENGE/ (BB 48

(loss) for the year - - - (2,950) 254,624 - 251,674 7,925 259,599
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 2R & TR ER = - - - - - - (7,200) (7,200)
Dividend paid BHRE = = - . - (%564 (96.564) o (9564
Proposed dividend RERE - - - - (53,646) 53,646 = - -
As at 31 March, 2019 R=E-NE=B=1-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 (3,069) 2,262,502 53,646 2,642,702 164 2,642,866

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 # 4 Bl f7 B A 5] )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ¢

%?AIE

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 #% —

ﬁ

JUEEZH=+—HIRERE

EJJ%’%

2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB B F T B Er) “E-hEF —N\&F
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 758 A1 Vi 290,588 165,504
Adjustments for: BT SEEL AR :
Interest expenses MEZH 186 379
Depreciation e 149 208
Provision of impairment loss on trade B o RN R EBERE
receivables made, net (%@E) 51,216 34,946
Bad debts written off, net RIFIEME CFE) = 267
Net increase in fair value of investment REMENRBZFER
properties (175,000) (115,000)
Share of results of an associate JEMREEE AR 2 ¥ 5,708 6,155
Gain on disposal of subsidiary i BT B 2 Bl BT EE A 2 R A - (3)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  #ERRK
equipment FTEE 4 2 14 7 (7,047) .
Operating cash flows before working RetEEES 2
capital changes ZISE R A 165,800 92,456
Decrease in inventories FEZRD = 3
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 REMEWIE - Re Rk
receivables, deposits and prepayments BERFRIEZ (38h0) /8D (302,441) 131,207
Increase in other assets H & E 23 m (200) -
Decrease in trust and segregated accounts EEMPHEEFO&FERE
included in bank balances RERITEER 2R D 11,023 2,770
(Decrease)/increase in other loans Hip &z CRd), /i (830) 490
Decrease in amounts due to related parties  JE{ B HsE A £ 308 2 i (846) (803)
Increase in amount due to ultimate holding B & 483 Ik A &) ZUIE 2 12 N
company 67,486 36,040
Decrease in creditors and accrued BEREBERENER KD
expenses (40,063) (567,297)
Cash (used in)/generated from REEK(ER) EExzBe
operations (100,071) 204,866
Interest paid BERFHE (186) (379)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNBEBMNER (6,305) (11,263)
Overseas tax paid B E N TR (3,245)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KEXK (ER) B2
operating activities ReRME (109,807) 193,224
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= a8 B 2 R B *x

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE _F—HE=ZH=+—HIL4EE

Notes 2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LB T T 5 E17) i —E-hEF —N\&F
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment FEE¥% - #ERHE (49) (453)
Proceed on disposal of property, plantand HEWE - #ENRENTER

equipment 7,172 -
Proceed on disposal of financial assets HEZARERKERIIEZ

at fair value through profit or loss M EE - 110,000
Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiary TENBRARINZERE R 32 - 3
Net cash generated from investing REZBELECEEFE

activities 7,123 109,550
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEZHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid RELd5) (96,564) (48,282)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest B8 F IR i 25 (7,200) =
Repayment of bank loans EEBITEX = (25,000)
Net cash used in financing activities METHELEC2EEFE (103,764) (73,282)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH IE%&IE%Z“EWZ%

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ) g (206,448) 229,492
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURERBEZEEY

BEGINNING OF YEAR 514,813 285,321
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZAERAEZZEN

THE END OF THE YEAR 308,365 514,813
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERRAES2EBNEHR 2N

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash in hand, non-pledged short-term Re  FEREHEREK

deposits and general accounts included —RIRITP D4R

in bank balances 25 308,365 514,813

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ & £ [l 47 Bt A +])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

GENERAL

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2" Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interests in 1,992,721,496 (2018: 1,992,721,496) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2018: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, property investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= &8 B B ® x KM =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG 2. ERFTRKEIBBMBERSEER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the ARBIRENBLAR (GBAIAEER])
“Group”) has applied the following new and amendments to Hong RAEEERERTIIHEREMAE
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs’) issued by the ((BRgsrMAg ) BHNEAMBHRE
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for ER([BEFHHREERNEE :

the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRSs ERUBREERN EAMBREELN =T
2014-2016 Cycle except HKFRS 12 CHES) —MEZ-_T—RER
(Amendments) H 2 FE o (B
BREERE125 (5
HESLYY
HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement of ERRBREEL  URNSINOXZZHE
Share-based Payment Transactions F25% (BT A) REt &
HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Apply HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BB REEN EEBMEREENS4
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts F45% (BRIAR) HRIREHN—ERE
B B I RS A2 R 505
BMBIA
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BEMBREEN HMBIA
E5%
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ERENBREELN ZREAHzMFE
F15%
HKFRS 15 (Amendments) Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue from BAPBREERN RPAHzka= (BAEN
Contracts with Customers Z15% (BFI &) BImERRE15R 2 E
&)
HKAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of Investment Property i e i | RN EME
Z40% (BRI &)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and BE(BBEHBHRER MNERFRBENRE
Advance Consideration BLZEg) REZE
2%
Except as described below, the application of these new and MR pratsh - ERA EFEI RIEZIZE
amendments to HKFRSs had no material effect on how the BB REERN RN AS T EE KB
results and financial position for the current and prior accounting Fert Az EERUBRAZERERE
periods are prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period WHERBEREATE - AL BEELB
adjustment has been required. THIRE A2
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. It sets out the requirements for recognising and
measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts
to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items that
existed on 1%t April, 2018 in accordance with the transition
requirements. The Group has recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening equity at 1
April, 2018. Therefore, comparative information continues to be
reported under HKAS 39.

Details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition approach are set out below:

(a) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") and at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). These supersede
HKAS 39’s categories of held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets
and financial assets measured at FVTPL. The classification
of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based on the business
model under which the financial asset is managed and
its contractual cash flow characteristics. Under HKFRS
9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a
financial asset in the scope of the standard are not separated
from the host. Instead, the hybrid instrument as a whole is
assessed for classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG 2. ERHIRKEIEBHMBRESER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) (&)

74

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

EBNBMEERFIFRUBTE (&)

(b) Credit losses (b) 1EEEE

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with BEAEMBRERFORABREE

the “expected credit loss” (“ECL") model. The ECL model EE((FEHREEER])EXBRKRTE

requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk associated BERERIERN [ EEEBEIE

with a financial asset and therefore recognises ECLs earlier X FHHEEERENEREEHNE

than under the “incurred loss” accounting model in HKAS 39. MR EEHRENEERR  ALER
BHEEBERNNERBREEEES
ZHEIRMEEEEE|HER
R EEAR -

The Group applies the new ECL model to the following item: REBERMNFTAREEBBERR
IARIER -

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including - BREEKAGENIBEE (R
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other BHSRBSEEBYWRESNA
receivables). ftb [ W 3R T8

(c) Transition (c) #BE

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
described below:

- Information relating to comparative periods has not
been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of
financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS
9 are recognised in retained profits and reserves as at
1t April, 2018. Accordingly, the information presented
for the year 2018 continues to be reported under HKAS
39 and thus may not be comparable with the current
period.

- The following assessments have been made on the
basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at 1¢
April, 2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 by
the Group):

(i) the determination of the business model within
which a financial asset is held; or

(iiy If, at the date of initial application, the assessment
of whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition would have
involved undue cost or effort, a lifetime ECL has
been recognised for that financial instrument.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
¥ ow xR MO

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG 2. ERAFITRLEITEBY KRS EL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) (&)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) EENBRELEANESEMETE ()
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9 NI EF BB B G ERIFEIH E L%
£HE
The table below illustrates the classification and measurement TREMTEEENTEABUARBES
(including impairment) of financial assets and financial liabilities B BREREREON KA B G EREI9
and other items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at GXEREEBEMARNEMEERE
the date of initial application, 1t April, 2018. RERBH(ZZE-\FMA-—B)NSER
RETE °
Trade
and other
AFS receivables, Financial
financial  deposits and assets at Retained
assets  prepayments FVTPL profits
EARAEM ARE
THEEN EKRE-BE  RERRIER
L) (EEFLAER) BEE SREMIE  CHBEE REuA
Closing balance as at 31 March, 2018 RZF-\$=A=1-H
LR
- HKFRS 39 — BB G LR E30% 136 546,013 - 2,055,660
Effect arising from initial application of NREEREANERS
HKFRS 9: EHFEOREE RE:
Reclassification ENAE
From AFS financial assets (Note (i)) et E B A E (Fi3() (136) = 136 -
From trade and other receivables, deposits 48 5 R E ft fEYIE -
and prepayment (Note (ii)) ReREMNFE
(Pt &K (i) - (4,000) 4,000 -
Remeasurement BiEE
From costs less impairment to fair value BXARERES AR BE
(Notes (i) and (ii) RO - - (4,136) (4,136)
Opening balance as at 1 April, 2018 RZE-\ENA—-BH
AR
- HKFRS 9 - BB BRE
ERIE9% - 542,013 - 2,051,524
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

From AFS investments to FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group’s unlisted
equity investments of approximately HK$136,000 were reclassified
from AFS financial assets investments to financial assets at FVTPL.
The fair value losses of approximately HK$136,000 relating to the
unlisted equity investments previously carried at cost less impairment
were adjusted to financial assets at FVTPL as at 1t April, 2018. The
fair value losses of approximately HK$136,000 relating to those
investments previously carried at cost were recognised to retained
profits.

From trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments to
FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group’s unlisted
convertible bond of approximately HK$4,000,000 were reclassified
from trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments to
financial assets at FVTPL. The fair value losses of approximately
HK$4,000,000 relating to those unlisted convertible bond previously
carried at cost was adjusted to financial assets at FVTPL and retained
profits as at 1 April, 2018.

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities remain the

same. The carrying amounts of all financial liabilities at 1t April,
2018 have not been impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

The Group did not designate or de-designate any financial asset or
financial liability at FVTPL at 15t April, 2018.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 supersedes the revenue
recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e  Step 1:
e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by

HKFRS 15.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from 18t April, 2018 which
resulted in changes in the accounting policies described in note
3. In accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has adopted the new rules retrospectively. The Group
assessed the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on its consolidated
financial statements. Based on the assessment, the adoption
of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant impact on the Group’s
revenue recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E = F—JUE=ZH =+ —H IL4E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG 2. ERFITRKLETEBYERSEL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) (&
The Group has not early applied the following new and AREBYEEZEEANTNEEMBEAE
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet WM RSB 2 BB R EER
effective: k&E:
HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to EAPHERELER  2015FE2017F AH
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle! (BFTA) BRI EREEL
B 5F 5 DU
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material? BB ENFEIR EANER?
(Amendments) REBG AR
%S%F (BFTA)
HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment BHEEHEAFEI9 FHEBE - BRSO
or Settlement R (ERTA) &
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in BB EAE28 REEREERER
Associates and Joint 5 (f; HEN) REER
Ventures!
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business® ERMBREED EBHERS
ERLACCHPY)
HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with EEMBREER AETHERROEN
Negative Compensation’ F95% (BF] &) I
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERMBREEN REFEHBLSLA
(Amendments) between an Investor and its FI0EREEE LBhECLRANEE
Associate or Joint Venture* RIS (18 HEIEE!
FIA)
HKFRS 16 Leases! EEMBmELEN HE
E165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® EEMBRELEN RBREKS
FATH
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax &5 (B ﬁﬂ%iﬁi FISHEENTHEE
Treatments' REZE®)- T
#5235,
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 15t January, 2019. 1 RZZE—hhF—B—HIZBHKRZFE
MR AR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 15t January, 2020. 2 R-ZE-TF—F—HZHRZFE
MR AR -
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 15t January, 2021. 3 R-ZE-—F— B —HIZRHAKRZFE
MR AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after to be determined. 4 RETERM 2 &RE cFEBRMER -
E Effective for business combination and assets acquisitions for which 5 BEWERBHN-_E_TF—F—H K
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual EEAEEHEMARE AEANERS G
period beginning on or after 1¢' January, 2020. KB EWE -
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in May, 2016 and is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1% January, 2019. HKFRS 16
replaces all existing lease accounting requirements and represents
a significant change in the accounting and reporting of leases,
with more assets and liabilities to be reported on the consolidated
statement of financial position and a different recognition of lease
costs.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Subject
to limited exceptions for short-term leases and low value assets,
distinctions of operating and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees.

Application of HKFRS 16 will result in the Group’s recognition
of right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities in respect
of the Group’s lease arrangements. These assets and liabilities
are currently not required to be recognised but certain relevant
information is disclosed as commitments to these consolidated
financial statements. As disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases is HK$Nil as at 31t March,
2019. The directors of the Company do not expect the adoption of
HKFRS 16 as compared with the current accounting policy would
result in significant impact on the Group’s result, but it is expected
that certain portion of the lease commitments will be regarded to
be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Except as described above, the directors do not anticipate that
the application of other new and amended HKFRSs will have a
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial
positions.
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except that the investment properties and
financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value.

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in
its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation

(c)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31t March, 2019. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in
full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Capitalised goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for using the
equity method) is included in the cost of the investment of the
relevant associate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)
(c) Goodwill (Continued)

EXREHRBE(A)

(c) BB (&)

382

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”).

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities attribute to the Group over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised, after
reassessment, immediately in the consolidated income
statement. A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a joint venture is included as income
in the determination of the investor’s share of results of
the associate or joint venture in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the assets to working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul cost, is
normally charged to the consolidated income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of

items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated

useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the remaining terms
of the leases

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% — 30%

Motor vehicles 15% - 30%

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

®)

Investment properties

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in the consolidated income statement for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which the
item is derecognised.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in consolidated
income statement. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(9) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’'s net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associates’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary
course of business after the end of the reporting period
or to management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1%t April, 2018. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

,ﬁwi\

8 B B & x W =

JEZH =+ HILERE

3. EXRSHHRBE (&)
() &WMIA
BHEERMBREREEEERA
TRANKIXZAINTEER - A

N

AREECHMBEERNR S BERR
BUHEER - AR EEREERERT
ZRPIHEPRERRARNEERN
WHEERE -

/

HBEERMBRBENSRDFET

EBE-_ZE-N\FOA-RWEE
RBBEREMBREEIF1GRI L
BMERREPANELNE S REK
BN - AREBRETHEEERNS
AERATFERBERIKZ M
BEXMBRAERN MERELZ

RHUANERERR AN BEE
ZPBAEER) A HEXBHE
AFEAR - RRAFERBRED
ReUBEEIMBARME  WiE
BERELZRXHRANE R R R E

e

BERAEENAEMBEEEXN B A
EM#BHERA RN EE SRS T8
WARFIERAZMTTE - BREFIXRZ
ERBEEXYM TR RNEFFHN
RREHE(ER) A - Kb RRR
TR ENR (BRERERMEA
RREB D KR AR BI M FR A B A I
BT XBMAREMBELER) £
RURERV SRR REERE
PR -

Annual Report 2019 F 4%

87



38

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

PAN
=)

M B O® R M

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)
Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

1)

assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2) (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost.
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets

Interest income is calculated by

that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1))

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL,
unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

AN

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS @8
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(j) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E = F—JUE=ZH =+ —H IL4E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(j) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9

with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
deposits are each assessed as a separate group.
amounts due from related parties are assessed for
expected credit losses on an individual basis);

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )

3.

EXE

)]

ATBREE (&)

TRTR (&)

HBEEE (&)
HHBEEZRE (BRRYZ2EREE
BB HEERFEINEFERAETER)

(%)
(v) EHEEEBRNTERER

BHEEBENFEIORRNE
WELx - gHBRX(AIMEEE
WEMBXRIEE) RENRR -
HEAOBEEDBRRNIEE
RESL 2% - WHRLATHE ME B FHE
HEE - HIRMIEEBEN A
REFAETENRERRMESTE
(RBELEZONERIEAEE) -

|
>:a.;|

- BHEEERR/ALSE
SRR RIMRA A KR
$ElﬁﬁWUmﬁi
ARER - RERHERR
BRI RBEIR -

S b H
T

= N R o

% 2B 0 ok

B S5

i

MEBEEEREEBERR
& IRBEHNTAEENER

ARIFENESR  ReRTA
AN TEEDE :

e SRTAMME(AAKHE
MWEEEBE/S—EBL
AR REfE - EUBIREA L
TRIR TS 4% 8 Rl B A 5 5 R
HEEEBR)

o BEIR

e BEHANKE RER
E

SMERMEERER (IA) -

NABEEETE R - AHERE
EHERMAKB L EEAFEMU
HIEE R IR & -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception for trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 15 April, 2018)

The Group classifies its investments in the following
categories: trade and other receivables, AFS financial assets,
financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and loan receivables. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its investments
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at the
end of the reporting period.

(i) Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition, financial assets or liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they arise. All derivative financial assets or liabilities are
also categorised as financial assets or liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss unless they are designated
as hedges.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1% April, 2018)
(Continued)

1))

(ii)

(iii)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At the end of the reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as any of the other
categories (set out above).

After initial recognition, AFS financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the AFS assets fair value reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, or until the investment is determined
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement and
removed from the AFS assets fair value reserve.
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1% April, 2018)
(Continued)

(iii) AFS financial assets (Continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

(iv) Loan receivables

Loan receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market, including placements with banks and
other financial institutions, investment debt securities
without an active market and loans and advances to
customers. Loan receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 15t April, 2018)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1))

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1t April, 2018) (Continued)

In case of equity securities classified as AFS financial assets,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
equity securities below their cost is considered in determining
whether the securities are impaired. Impairment losses
recognised in consolidated income statement on equity
securities are not reversed through consolidated income

statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the fair value reserves
is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31" March,

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accruals are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or
by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. The carrying values of properties held
by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.

Properties held for development included in the current
assets are expected to be realised, or is intended for sales in
the Group’s normal operation cycle.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years,
current tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred taxation is recognised on all temporary differences
at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences except where the deferred tax liabilities
arise from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be
utilised except where the deferred tax assets relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to
be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

Income tax expense (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
assets are realised or the liabilities are settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred taxation
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred taxation is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
these assets until such times as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the

functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange

gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such

transactions and from the translation at year-end

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the

consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(n) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group’s
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each of the statement
of financial position presented are translated at
the closing rates at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each of the income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(c) the resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve.

(o) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within trade
and other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in the consolidated
income statement on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31" March,

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(o) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the consolidated income
statement over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised if and when it becomes probable that
the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group
under the guarantee, and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of a provision is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the note on the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so the outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other revenue

Revenue recognition after application of HKFRS 15
on 1% April, 2018

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS \“\f_,
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE /
a5 )
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BAEHBEME(H) i
(Continued) &

(p) Revenue and other revenue (Continued) (p) KEREAMYE ()

Revenue recognition after application of HKFRS 15 on
1st April, 2018 (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

Provision of trading services

The Group provides broking and dealing services for
securities, futures, options contracts and precious metal.
Commission income, brokerage income and service fee is
recognised at a point in time on the execution date of the
trades at a certain percentage of the transaction value of
the trades executed. Management and handling income is
recognised when the transaction is executed and service is
completed.

Provision of assets management and advisory services

The Group provides asset management and advisory services
to customers. The customers simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefit provided by the Group, hence the
revenue is recognised as a performance obligation satisfied
over time. Asset management fee income is charged at a
fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the
managed accounts under management of the Group.
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For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other revenue (Continued)

EXREHRBE(A)

(p) W@mREMWE (F)

106

Revenue recognition after application of HKFRS 15 on
1¢t April, 2018 (Continued)

Provision of assets management and advisory services
(Continued)

The Group is also entitled to a performance fee when there is
a positive performance for the relevant performance period.
The performance fee is recognised at the end of the relevant
performance period, when there is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur once the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivables under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivables. Contingent rentals are recognised as revenue in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

Revenue recognition before application of HKFRS 15 on

1<t April, 2018

(i) Commission and brokerage income, placement and
underwriting commission, management and handling
fees, corporate finance advisory fees and assets
management fee and performance fee are recognised
when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that they will
be received.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()]

(@

(r)

Revenue and other revenue (Continued)

Revenue recognition before application of HKFRS 15 on

1st April, 2018 (Continued)

(ii) Interest income is accrued, on a time proportion basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective rate applicable.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the respective leases.

Sale of precious metal is recognised, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership; nor effective control

over the goods sold.

Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Receipts or payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are credited or expensed in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence of the Group; or

(iif)

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or a parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ %

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

(r)

Related parties (Continued)
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

(b)

conditions applies:

(i)

(Vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of a same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit or employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it

is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to a parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )

3.

EXE
(r)

ATBEBE (F)
BEAL (&)

(b)

R E o ERER -

s
it
o
Fole
bl

RRABAEEBRE

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ZEBRAREBR &
EINQIE-SSSNINY- N
AkEAEWBARERRA
&) o

—EEERS —EENH
BASRELR (AKX
SEKENBEALAE
bE Mzs—EER/L
SENKE) °

MEEBESERE=T

MaEhx-

—AERRE=EBNS
EhERA—HEBAF=
ERNBEA -

ZEBRARERELE
ERRENERNERR
R R A BEBLR AR ARTE

ZERBX(a)BMEAAL
PRl sk SR
Ra)(iBFBAIALTHE
BEEATYE JIRER
(REBOHERAR])ETEE
BAR o

MASESAKRENT D
ARETIEEEAEBRY
MERIEMBEEMNET
B124=FNC]

ERALZORBAIERENEZE
BLRHDTHEZRALTHIZEA
TEIFEKE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31" March,

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

(s)

®

()

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amount of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Employees benefits

The Group participates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated based on
a percentage of employees’ relevant income. The Group’s
contributions to the fund are expensed as incurred and the
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they fall due.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group did not use any critical accounting
estimates in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Estimated impairment loss on interest bearing receivables
from loan and margin financing

The Group makes impairment loss based on an assessment of
the recoverability of interest bearing receivables from loan and
margin financing. Allowance are applied where events or change
in circumstance indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
In determining whether impairment loss on receivables is required,
the Group takes into consideration the current creditworthiness,
the past collection history, age status and likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are unlikely
to be collected and is recognised on the difference between the
estimated future cash flow expected to receive discounted using
the original effective interest rate and its carrying amount. If the
financial conditions of customers or debtors of the Group were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowance may be required.

Impairment loss on trade receivables under HKAS39

The policy for impairment loss on trade receivables of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability, aging
analysis of accounts, the values of underlying collaterals and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of those clients in default of settlement. If the financial
conditions of debtors and their ability to make payments worsen,
additional impairment loss may be required.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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For the year ended 31" March,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(Continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

The fair values of investment properties are determined at the
end of the reporting period by an independent professional
valuer. Valuations were made on the basis of either, investment
approach by capitalizing the net rental income receivable from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary rental income potentials,
and residual approach by referencing to its development potential
by deducting costs and developer’s profits from its estimated
completed development value. These methodologies are based
upon estimates of future results and a set of assumptions as
to income and expenses of the property and future economic
conditions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising mainly issued
share capital, other reserves and retained profits.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which
is a member of The Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange Society
(“CGSE"), they are required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC and the CGSE.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 6. UBIESNE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEMRSEVHITEAZEREENT ¢

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2019 —E-hEF

Financial assets MEEE
Amortised
cost
(In HK$'000) (W BT BEM) i £ DN
Trade and other receivables and deposits B REMEWRFIBERIZS 791,035
Other assets Hih&EE 5,400
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH 371,127
1,167,562

Financial liabilities 2B S=K
Amortised
cost
(In HK$'000) (LB F T BE ) 88 B R
Borrowings A 2,769
Amounts due to related parties JE 1 B Bk A T 3RIA 1,274
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE R AR R R R 5K OB 166,795
Creditors and accrued expenses ERAZERENER 76,383
247,221
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE_F—E=ZH=+—HIL4EE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 6. BRI BEDE(E)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEBRRSETBITAZEREENT ¢
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ()
(Continued)
2018 —E-N\F
Financial assets s EE
Available
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
Bk A E
(In HK$'000) (LB For B E() J& IR MHEE mEr
AFS financial assets, at cost A ERBEE (RKA) - 136 136
Trade and other receivables and & 5 M H b EWFIE kike
deposits 540,235 - 540,235
Other assets Hi&E 5,200 - 5,200
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTEH 588,598 - 588,598
1,134,033 136 1,134,169
Financial liabilities A%
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R
KA EZ
(In HK$'000) (BB FTHENR) BKasE
Borrowings & 3,599
Amounts due to related parties JE T B Bk A £ RUE 2,120
Amount due to ultimate holding company JE A f 43R B A Bl 2 E 99,309
Creditors and accrued expenses EAFERESER 116,619
221,647
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BERREEBEERIEK
POLICIES
(a) Financial risk factors: (a) MEEBREZ :
The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and KEBZFENKIAREZE S NE
other receivables, deposits, other assets, bank balances ERHIE R HMEE - R/
and cash, AFS financial assets, financial assets at fair value EHuhBEe AHEERKEE &
through profit or loss, borrowings, amounts due to related AAEBERKERIEZHMBEE £
parties, amount due to ultimate holding company and o ENEBALTRE  BAREER
creditors and accrued expenses. BABIFE  ENREREFER -
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: AEBEKMEZETREN 28
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency B : EERR RBELER - F
risk. The Group's overall risk management programme KRER MINERR - NEE 2 BER
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks SERE IR BT S E LA
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial ZEN ARSREBERIHAEE
performance. MHRAEEN 2 TFFE -
(i) Credit risk () EERERE
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the AEEEEEERBRIRSZ
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts A ABEER T AR HEN
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided FIEZER  MBEPREEE
for losses that have been incurred by the end of the 2R (A ) HREREEE -
reporting period, if any. The Group is responsible for AEEE B EER MBS
monitoring the amount of credit exposure to any financial ZIEERR -
institution.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to interest AEENEERREZRENSE
bearing receivables from loan and margin financing. FEEWER KA EE EW R
Management has a credit policy in place and the H-ERECREREELRR I
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an BETHEREEEERBRNE
ongoing basis. 8 e
Money lending business EHXBERE
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management AEEREEERR  AEEE
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for EECZR—HEAEBEETER
determination of credit limits, credit approval and ER%E - FEHRIHEMEER
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 3 BEREEREUREITE AR E
action is taken for the recoverable amount. In addition, BHAETS o AN REBNRE
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each AREFHX R EER KD S
individual’s loan receivables at the end of each B BRANAKE N SR
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment RHANREER R=T—NF
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. As at 31¢ Z=A=1+—H ERBALER -
March, 2019, the directors of the Company are of the ARBIEERE  BHEREARLE
opinion that provision for impairment of approximately AMEFIEEBEBZSEHZRE
HK$136,273,000 was recognised on individual loans B 5 #49136,273,000/8 7T ©

as credit impaired in respect of these balances as the
debtors were in the process of liquidation.
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4
&
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BEEREEBEEREK(E) Sy '.
POLICIES (Continued) - ‘9
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) (a) MEEBRREZ: (#) ' &“\

(i) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EEREE (&)

Money lending business (Continued)

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk
for each of their new and existing clients before
standard payment terms and conditions are offered.
If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses
the credit quality of the customer based on the
customer’s financial position, past experience and other
factors. The Group holds collateral against receivables
and interest receivables in the form of mortgages over
residential properties located in Hong Kong. Individual
risk limits are set based on the value of collaterals
provided by customers and internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the directors.

In determining the ECL of the Group’s interest bearing
receivables from loan and margin financing, the
management assessed the expected losses individually
by estimation based on general economic conditions of
the relevant industry in which the debtors operate, value
of any pledged assets, financial position of the debtors
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. As at 31 March 2019, the
largest interest bearing receivables from loan and
margin financing were approximately HK$67,000,000
(2018: HK$60,500,000) and HK$63,344,000 (2018:
HK$57,609,000) respectively which were approximately
10% (2018: 13%) and 49% (2018: 41%) of the Group's
total interest bearing receivables from loan and margin
financing. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by
dealing with counter parties which have good credit
history.

Other receivables

Other receivables relating to accounts that are long
overdue with significant amounts, known insolvencies or
non-response to collection activities, they are assessed
individually for impairment allowance.
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EBVAR $‘$IH'J$ETF%}5
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IR HOGR IR M MR B A AL
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BERREEBEREK(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) () BBREBEE: (&)
(i) Credit risk (Continued) () 1EEEE (&)

Provision of securities brokerage services FE B AT A IR
In order to manage the credit risk in the accounts REBREFEBEREECER
receivables due from clients arising from business REERRZEERR  HAMEAR
dealing in securities, individual credit evaluations are FHEITERE R o ok - K
performed on all clients. In addition, the Group reviews SEREmE BRI &R BIRE
the recoverable amount of each individual receivable WRIEH AT Bl &5 - AR
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that AR ERIBEL AR E
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable BE M E  ARFEEFER
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company B EERRE AERE -

consider that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

In respect of accounts receivables from clearing houses, HRAEE—REE RETEE
credit risks are considered as low as the Group normally AMzEEMETRS  WEK
enters into transactions with clearing houses which are LEFMBEHZEEERER -

registered with regulatory bodies.

Other credit risks Et iz EELR
In relation to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group MAEEBFERRBTZERM
limits its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits s ASEBRBEREHRE
with financial institution with high credit rating and no SEETM BT AN EE 08
recent history of default. The directors consider that the ZEREE  BUREMASZ
Group's credit risk on the bank deposits is low. EERER -
Quantitative information related to ECL assessment was HECLF BB EEREEEHRN
set out in note 21. fEE2q

(i) Liquidity risk (i) "EEZER
The Group invests in unlisted securities which are RZE—NF=ZA=+—HBAE
designated as AFS financial assets as at 31 March, BRERIFLTES  DIHER
2018. Those unlisted securities may not be traded in AEHEMBEE - 2SI LM
an organised public market and may be illiquid. As a BERARTFRNEETE AR
result, the Group may not be able to liquidate quickly its MZEE  WRASMNETRE -
investments in these instruments at an amount close to F L A5 B A] g A DA AT I
their fair value in order to meet its liquidity requirements ETEARARBZREAREER
or to respond to specific events such as deterioration WETAZRE  UEMRAEE
in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Prudent CRBESTEHNERTES
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient o PINEREERTAZEE
cash and marketable securities, the availability of KEZ - BEZREBEL AR
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities BE ERERAFETHRERE
and the ability to close out market positions. EES BHRRERBZEER

BNERAHDRES  MEE
M 28N -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BEEREEEEREK(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) () BIBREBEE: (&)
(ii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) TEEZER (E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAMSI A EENTHEE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For ZEKERE o YR 2 RE
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been EELSIENTERBEBEZANE
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the ABHERBARNEEZTEERR
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which ZBAH - THRBERELE R
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes FEZHEERE °
both interest and principal cash flows.
Weighted
average Total Within
effective contractual  one year and
interest rate Carrying  undiscounted repayable
per annum amount cash flows on demand
MEE SN (BRE) —FARAR
(In HK$'000) (BT T REN) ERERE FHE RERELH BHEEE
2019 ZE-NE
Borrowings B 3.2 2,769 2,769 2,769
Amounts due to related parties  FEff B BE AT 30B - 1,274 1,274 1,274
Amount due to ultimate holding ~ [Eff & &R AT FIE
company - 166,795 166,795 166,795
Creditors and accrued expenses [ETZiIE kB[ & H - 76,556 76,383 76,383
247,394 247,221 247,221
2018 it A3
Borrowings B 2.6 3,599 3,599 3,599
Amounts due to related parties  FEfEEEE A T 2B = 2120 2120 2120
Amount due to ultimate holding ~ [Eff &R AT FIE
company - 99,309 99,309 99,309
Creditors and accrued expenses [E(S 3B kBT E A - 116,619 116,619 116,619
221,647 221,647 221,647

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s borrowings from financial institution, other
loans, bank deposits, interest-bearing receivables from
loans and margin client receivables.

The majority of the borrowings bear interest at interest
rates with reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) whereas loans to customers bear
interest at interest rates with reference to the prime rate.
As the prime rate in Hong Kong basically changes in
line with the HIBOR, the Group’s exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates is minimal.

(iii) 7@ g

AEEZFEEREEMEER
MBS - R ER - /1T
B3 MAEMNEBRUERRARE
EFRWHKAEL -

ABDRITERNELBERR
TRERE ([BBRTEAER
Bl MERTFEFHELERK
BEME - AREFEREEF
RER FRBBRITRERERK
% AKREEHEHSHXRE
PRBREMN -
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ %

JEEZH =+ H IR

POLICIES (Continued)

;%*5:' NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BERREEBEREK(E)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) (a) BBERREZ: (#)
(iii) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIZ /5 fz ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TR RS B BR B AT A (4
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all EEHL@JT'J B AR SR
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before HE BERRBAATE) RAK
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings, EI%”;H‘U BIREEEER
interest-bearing accounts receivables, loans and FRMEMEMEBRETE o
advances) and the Group’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit before (decrease)
basis points taxation in equity
HEHZ MRBL AR R 2 EmZ

(In HK$'000) (KB F T BE() @/ CRd)  #EmnsCRd) & GR)
2019 —E-hE
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 4,037 3,504
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (4,037) (3,504)
2018 ZT-N\F
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,832 3,200
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,832) (3,200)

(iv)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States
dollars (“US$”").

Since US$ are pegged to Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"),
the Group considers risk of movements in exchange
rates between the HK$ and US$ to be insignificant.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis with respect to US$
is presented.

(b) Fair values:
Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised costs are approximate to their fair values
as at 315 March, 2019 and 2018.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %
B & B B | & KM

A
For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WRKEESHER
(a) Revenue: (a) W& : 2 ,@
2019 2018 TR,
(In HK$'000) (LOBEFLBEN) —E-hF —E-N\F
Revenue within the scope of HKFRS 15 BB R E LR FE155
(Note (i)): #E A2 Yas (HTEEG)):
Commission and brokerage income from FBA5&L 2 B4 &
securities broking A lA 6,334 9,760
Commission and brokerage income from  EiE&4L 2 H 4 Kk
futures broking A A 636 388
Management and handling fees EIRMTESE 1,162 1,159
Commission for subscribing new shares  REFH RS 5 16
Placement and underwriting commission — B& R B#HME 1,038 -
Investment management fee KEERE 2,242 2,565
Advisory fee R 233 =
Properties management fee MEERS 75,136
Services fee in relation to precious metal HHEELBZREE 226 7,535
87,012 21,423
Revenue outside the scope of HKFRS 15: & i Bt 15 3R & X B 551558
HE N2 Yz
Rental income HEWRE 31,029 25,503
Interest income from i B WA SRR
- margin clients -FREF 11,933 11,952
- money lending -EXmE 57,019 62,421
— financial institutions and others - ISR R E A O 4,596 3,343
104,577 103,219
191,589 124,642
Note: B aE
(i) Revenue within the scope of HKFRS 15: (i) & 5 Bt & & % Bl 51557 &3
Az
Recognised at a point in time T 5 M iy D B 3R 87,012 21,423
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ %

JEEZH =+ H IR

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment information:
(i) Reportable operating segments
For management purposes, the Group is currently

organised into business units based on their products

and services and has seven reportable operating

segments namely broking, financing, corporate finance,

assets management,

property investment,

precious

metal trading and investment holding.

Reportable operating segments are as follows:

Broking

Financing

Corporate finance

Assets management

Property investment

Precious metal trading
Investment holding

Securities brokerage and

futures brokerage

Securities margin financing

and money lending

Corporate finance advisory,

placing and underwriting

Assets management for listed

and unlisted companies and
high net worth individuals

Property rental, management

and related business

Precious metal trading
Share investments

An analysis of segment information of the Group on
these reportable operating segments for the years
ended 31¢t March, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

8.

K &

(b)

s REEDEER (&)

(i)

EES *‘Bﬁﬂ

2HEE

HEEH ZF%I*E%EIEHTE
uu&ﬁ&ﬁ“l&%@%ﬁ%%a‘ﬁ?ﬂﬁt
B2HEEDH - 2HALL
Mg CERE EEEE &

WERE EEBEENKREE
B o
ERLENHWT

o wErlae kG
&
B 7% ERFERBER
B
EERE EREER
fic & & £ 84
BEEER REMRIELET
RAIRBEE
FEEBE
EEEHE
FHERE RBHEMAE
B RAEER
ExBEE E¢BEE
REER R E
$Elﬁ%iﬁ ENEHRNBE

—hER-_FT-N\F=H
_+ AItFEZ D EERAHT
m

2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB TFTBEN) —E—hE —E-N\E&E
Segment revenue 2
Broking S 8,136 11,307
Financing B 7% 73,146 77,307
Corporate finance PERE 1,276 16
Assets management BETE 2,242 2,565
Property investment FHERE 106,496 25,912
Precious metal trading ES¢BEE 293 7,535
Investment holding BEER - -
191,589 124,642
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS @8
5 & B B B R KB

A
For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. Wak=EBIERF) £%
(Continued) = ‘ﬂ
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) 2E é:ial (&) ' ""\

(i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) (I) BHREEZZ(E)
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (NERT T AEL) —E-hE —EN\&E
Segment results DEEE
Broking &a (1,609) 1,162
Financing B 7% 64,706 68,371
Corporate finance TEME 1,224 7
Assets management EEER 634 1,552
Property investment FHERE 100,347 20,562
Precious metal trading E2EBEE (686) (703)
Investment holding RERER - 1
164,616 90,951
Net increase in fair value of REMEARBEZFER
investment properties 175,000 115,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and &R - e KRk
equipment FiTEE £ 2 A 7,047 =
Bad debts written off, net AR CFE) = (267)
Provision of impairment loss on trade B o RWFREBERE
receivables, net (FE) (51,216) (34,946)
Other revenue Hofth Yo 25 849 921
Share of results of an associate FE(E B2 ARl 2 4B (5,708) (6,155)
Profit before taxation B 151 B3 A 290,588 165,504
Income tax expense IS B (28,039) (1,921)
Profit for the year F N A 262,549 163,583
Management monitors the results of the Group's EEBERIERAEE2REE
operating segments separately for the purpose of DEZHEE  MEEBROIR
making decisions about resources allocation and RNMFHRE - DBRBIRIEA
performance assessment. Segment performance is T 25D =55 A (LA B A& A
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is H8) g o

a measure of profit before tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= &8 B B ® x KM =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E = F—JUE=ZH =+ —H IL4E

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WaEKk=EENMER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) BEBoEESR : (&
(i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) (i) E é?@ 755 (48)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on BEZZ-NERZZT-NEF=
these reportable operating segments for the years A :-l—— BIEFE - REEFZ
ended 31 March, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: R 2|EEDHRO D BERD
T
Segment assets Interests in associates  Unallocated corporate assets Consolidated
BENE REELR2ER FoELREE &4

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(In HK$:000) WEETLEEN) —E-7E Z3-\f ZE-AF -—T-\f CE-Af -T-\f CE-fE _—E)\%
Assets BE
Broking &R 111,819 131,398 - - - = 111,819 131,398
Financing BB 765,847 620,948 - = - = 765,847 620,948
Corporate finance LERE - - - - - - - -
Assets management BEER 4,238 5,051 - - - - 4,238 5,051
Property nvesiment EHERE 1720008 172434 39,265 47,923 - - AR 1772267
Precious metal trading REEEE 129,561 190,251 - = - - 129,561 190,251
Investment holding RANR 132,011 3011 - - - S 13201 3011
Inter-segment elimination A AR (8,106) (13,024) = - - - (8,106) (13,224)
Unallocated AR - - - - 4,085 3470 4,085 3470
Consolidated Lh 2,860,278 2,661,979 39,265 47,923 4,085 3,470 2,903,628 2,113,372
Liabilties &
Broking an 72,449 98,796 - - - = 72,449 98,796
Financing b 5,632 22,439 = - - - 5,632 22,439
Corporate finance HEE - = - = - - - =
Assets management RERE 69 8 - - - - 69 8
Property nvestment EHERE 17263 105210 - - - - 172838 105210
Precious metal trading EEEBEE 3,028 3,876 - - - - 3,028 3,876
Investment holding RERR 3,860 114 - - - - 3,860 114
Inter-segment elimination ~~ HHERHH (8,106) (18,224) - - - - (8,106) (18,224)
Unallocated AARE - = - = 11,192 4,916 11,192 4916
Consolidated A 249,570 217,289 - = 11,192 4916 260,762 222,205
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS \“x_,
e M B ®R Ok KB :

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B ZE “F—JUE=H =+ — H L4 (
8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. Wak=EBIERF) £% ;
(Continued) e 3___;{54
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) "“Bﬁﬂﬁl (&) *‘*%'\
(i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) (l) EHEES I (F)
Provision of

impairment loss on trade Bad debts written off/

Capital expenditure Depreciation receivables - net (recovery)
EARUTAERRRRE
BRE% i -FE SEMS/ ()

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (EETTAEL) —B-nE B2\ ZB-nf B8 ZB-nf ZE-\E ZB-nf ZEE
Other segment information  Ef15 BE&#
Broking ag 49 59 121 187 = - = ()
Financing B = = - 49 51,216 34,946 - 268
Corporate finance tERE - = - = - = - =
Assets management BEEE - - - - - - - -
Property investment EHERE - 394 21 21 - - - -
Precious metal trading E4BEE - - 1 1 - = - =
Investment holding REARR - - - - - - - =
Inter-segment elimnation ~ HHERE L - = - = - = - =
Consolidated Ga 49 453 149 208 51,216 34,946 - 267

(ii) Geographical information (i) HEELH

The Group'’s operations are principally located in Hong REETLETBHNES B
Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of China (the PRI ARLEFE ([hEAR
“PRC”). The Group’s administration is carried out in HHE|) - AEEZTHERE
Hong Kong. SEHETT o

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical
market and analysis of non-current assets by the

TRERAEEIRIE TSI
HEPREDI T RIRZEEMRE

geographical location in which assets are located other Ml 2 IF B & BE A (A 4 1
than AFS financial assets, trade and other receivables, Eﬁﬂ%gﬁ B 5 RE M EKR
deposits and prepayments, other assets and deferred ke RENFIEREMEE
tax assets. EERIERRSIN) o

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENBEFE 2 W ERBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
(In HK$'000) NERTTREN) Z—ZE-NE —FT-)\F ZF-NE Z—FT-)\F
Hong Kong &7 157,626 96,637 2,521 2725
Macau s 33,963 28,005 1,686,584 1,511,605
The PRC hmEAREM - - 39,265 47 923
191,589 124,642 1,728,370 1,562,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K

For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued)
(iii) Information about major customers
The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
in aggregate approximately 24% (2018: 20%) of the
Group’s revenue.

No customer of the Group for the years ended 31
March, 2019 and 2018 has contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.

(b) EELHER : (%)
(i) TEEFEH

REBRARFA LEEB K
#H24% (ZZ— )\ F : 20%) °

HE_Z-NEFE-_E—N\F=
AZ+—HItEE AEEWE
EAEFPHAEEBEKZE10%M

J: o
9. NET IMPAIRMENT LOSS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 9. HMKEEBBFHE
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB F T B ENT) —E-NE —E—)\&
Impairment loss, net of reversal, U TR ZREEE (MRER)
recognised in respect of:
Trade and other receivables and deposits & 5 & E b FEU B ik & 51,216 34,946
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BME /K
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB T B E () —E—NE —EN\&E
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITERRESFIBERAY 32 260
Interest on other loans, wholly repayable HERFERY - RAFR
within five years TERER 154 119
186 379

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 # 4 Bl f7 B A 5] )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ¢
= e B B B x KM &=

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 11, BRFADER A b

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and B AR A B Ik RET A TSR S ‘Eﬁi
crediting the following: "5“\
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB TF T REL) —E-fE —E—\&E
Charging: B
Auditors’ remuneration % EAD B
— Current year - REE 632 694
— Underprovision in prior year -AEERETR 26 22
Staff cost (including directors’ emolument) & T (EREE =)
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits ~ ¥4 RAREMEBEN 15,009 13,859
-~ Contributions to retirement schemes - RIRETELZ 5K 472 432
Depreciation nE 149 208
Bad debts written off, net ZERMEH CF(E) = 267
Operating leases rentals in respect of HENME KLEHEES
rented premises 1,216 1,216
Crediting: BEtA:
Rental income from operating lease less RERERSWARE H
outgoings
Gross rental income: HK$31,029,000 e WA 4% 1 31,029,0007% 7T
(2018: HK$25,503,000) (ZZ—/\% : 25,503,000/ T) 28,174 22,658
Dividend income from unlisted investment ~ JE L& & Z RS KA 8 8
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL: REEREAREZ
BHREEZERFEE:
— Other financial instruments - HipB T A - (2)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

12. ESREREEEMS

REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ emolument (a) EEM=2
The remuneration of every director for the years ended 31 BEENEBE-_T-—NERZT—N
March, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: FZA=t—HLEFEZBEEM
N
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or
and  Retirement performance-
benefits benefits related
Fees in kind contributions bonuses Total
HERge
EEREA HETL
Hi28R g /%
(In HK$'000) (W EEF L BEN) e BNAE BRI BNRAL @t
For the year ended 31 March, 2019 HZ=-Z-h#
ZAZT-HLEE
Non-executive directors: FHIEE .
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EERLE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat HREET 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: BHTEE .
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BER/ME - 519 22 19 560
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfmLE - 270 14 19 303
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REERE - 1,439 - 123 1,562
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTEE .
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BrREnE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik BRI L E 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan SR E 50 - - - 50
250 2,228 36 161 2,675

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE_F—E=ZH=+—HIL4EE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emolument (Continued)

12. EENEREEENE (A)

(a) EZMBE (&)

Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances andfor
and Retirement  performance-
benefits benefits related
Fees inkind  contributions bonuses Total
B9
BERM BEEa
B8R RIK R/
(In HK$000) BT TAER) Be  EMEE  BRMR g 3t
For the year ended 31 March, 2018  BEZ-Z—\F=A
=+-BLEE
Non-executive directors: FHTEE:
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David ERREE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat HERERLT 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: HIEE -
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BERNA - 429 19 19 467
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfAtE - 269 13 19 301
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REGEE = 1,458 = 123 1,581
Independent non-executive directors: BV FHTEE -
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BRELE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik BRI A 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan SR EAE 50 = = - 50
250 2,156 32 161 2,599

During the years ended 31t March, 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss for office.

HE_Z-NEFR=ZF-NF=H
=t+—RILFE AEEITRAES
FRERME - ERRSIEEMNE L
MBAREE & 2 RENSERREBRAHE -

Annual Report 2019 F 4%



128

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(excluding directors of the Company) are:
For the year ended 31 March, 2019, one (2018: one) of the
five highest paid individuals was executive director of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in note 12(a).

12.

EERCAEEEMS (&)

(b) IEBEFMAL (FEERREZ
EB)2METi:
RIBE-NF=ZA=+—RILFE"
IRGERFMALER R (ZT-N
F:—R)REARAMTES  KF

[EARE N APV

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LEETF T BER) —E-NE —E-N\%&

Basic salaries EXF & 2,679 2,506

Retirement benefits contributions RREFMER 72 72
Discretionary bonuses and/or BB TEAL &/ BB AT

performance-related Bonuses 158 155

2,909 2,733

Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals (excluding directors of the Company) by number
of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

IARRFHAL (TEREARFE
) RABEMEBEIFTHENMAT -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %£1,000,000/8 7T 4 4

During the years ended 31 March, 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss for office.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$254,624,000 (2018: HK$163,603,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2018: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The basis earnings and diluted earnings per share are the same

as the Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares for both
years.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )

13.

HE-_Z-NFRZT-NF=H
=+—HLFE AEEIRMAHA
ERFMATZRERNME  EAR
SIEE MBS MBEAREE % 2 2E) K
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BRIEF
FREXGENHIBREARRESR ARG
7 £ @ F #9254,624,0008 T (ZZ— N\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(a)

(b)

Income tax expenses in the consolidated income
statement represents:

14. FEHMAX

(a)

FENBERZMBHRAXE !

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LB T 55 7) —E-1F —E-)N\%F
Hong Kong profits tax BEEH

— current year - AEE 19,961 8,204

— overprovision in prior year - B ERERE (120) (79)

Deferred taxation — note 14(d) EERTIE — M sE14(d) 4,953 (6,204)

24,794 1,921

Overseas tax paid B #U8INEIA 3,245 =

28,039 1,921

On 21%t March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28" March, 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of the profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% of the
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in which the Group
operates is calculated on the estimated assessable profits for
the year at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

(b)

R-ZE—NF=ZA-t+—H8: ' &EY
FERB(ZT—LERE (B (F
7 ) BRIER) ([EHER]) - 5N
FEBMEL - GHAERR=ZZ—N\
FZAZ+NBEZZER TRZ
BRIZEE®R BREFEGHMARL - &
EREEEEKIZS.25%MFH R E
1 52,000,000% T AR B W&
£16.5% 1 %t 2 3t #8 382,000,0007%8
TR & R BNTLTE - TRAFGHm
REEREREE OGNS RER
16.5%H) 8| —H EH M TiE -

HE - Z—NWErR-_ZE—N\FE=A
ZT—HLEFE  BFETEHIEER
i o A B9 12% 2 Bt o

AREEREMAZEELEEMELL

B T3 (S 5t AR T A & FIAR IR AR A
EWERERZHEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ %

8 B % & & B =

JEEZH =+ H IR

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 14, FIBHAX (&)
(c) Income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the () AFEEMEHAZMEGE KGR
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement B AEFEEMT ¢
as follows:
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) R ) —E-1F —T-N\F
Profit before taxation B 254 AT i A 290,588 165,504
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of ~ ZIBBERKEERMER
respective tax jurisdictions FTiSHi % 39,826 27,308
Tax effect of net increase in fair value of ~REMERNAL B FHERDN
investment properties D% (21,000) (18,975)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue PHRAG 2 WENR B2 (4,879) (8,389)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TEMGR AT OB BT E - 2,077
Tax effect of previously unrecognised 2B AR RS R E RN
temporary difference D% 3,245 (394)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary AERNEREEENTBLE
differences 1,994 3
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR HEBENR G E 9,697 370
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRAERERTBER
recognised (463) -
Over provision in prior year AT E R (120) (79)
Tax reduction HIEER (261) -
Income tax expenses FTiSHiFX 28,039 1,921
(d) Deferred taxation: (d) EZLFIE :
Provision
for impairment
loss on trade  Accelerated
receivable depreciation Total
ESEW
RIERAE
(In HK$'000) (KBTI REN) EBRE MRITE At
At 1 April, 2017 R=Z—+EmA—A - - -
Deferred tax credited to BRI AR
profit or loss (6,200) (4) (6,204)
At 31t March, 2018 RZF—-\F=A=1—H (6,200) (4) (6,204)
Deferred tax debited to B IBGRER
profit or loss 4,949 4 4,953
At 31t March, 2019 RZB-RAF=ZA=+—H (1,251) - (1,251)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unutilised
tax losses of approximately HK$65,085,000 (2018:
HK$9,058,000) available for offsetting against future taxable
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future taxable profits. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

RBEEHRE - AEE B A H K 5
ARERZREN 2 ASDAHRBEE
18 #965,085,0008 7T (=T — )\ :
9,058,000 7T) ° B A& BE T8 8 K 7R
FEUGRBUR A 2 B - A ERER
BB EE - B EBEER S

ﬁqo
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE
PROPOSED DIVIDEND 15. BRI S v
2019 2018 _ *,;”
(In HK$'000) (LEEFTREN) —E-NF —T)\F p
Final dividend proposed of HK2.0 cents BRERERE —BREBR2.04/L
(2018: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary share (ZE—NF : 1.851L) 53,646 48,282
Special dividend proposed of HKNil cent  #URZ4F RIS — B LB Z B
(2018: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary share (ZE—N\F 1.8 &) - 48,282

The amount of the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31¢
March, 2019 of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share will be payable in
cash and is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders

at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE_T-NF=A=+—BLF
BEZRzRIREABKREBR20
Al AHARE N - EARAH
BUZBREFAE ERGRRILE
& JTRIEE -

16. ¥ EERRE

Leasehold  Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HETH KR #E
(In HK$'000) BT BER) % B L e E
Net book value as at 1% April, 2017 AZE—+FWA-HYZ
(Note (i) BRIE% B (7)) 620 379 46 1,045
Additions NE 387 66 - 453
Disposal HeE - - - -
Depreciation e (20) (142) (46) (208)
Net book value as at 31 March, 2018 RZZE—N\F=A=F+—HZ
REFE 987 303 - 1,290
At 31 March, 2018 R-Z-—N\E=A=1+—H
Cost B AR 1,287 6,377 1,381 9,045
Accumulated depreciation ZRBME (300) (6,074) (1,381) (7,755)
Net book value REEE 987 303 = 1,290
Net book value as at 1= April, 2018 R=ZE—\FWNA-HZ
REEE 987 303 - 1,290
Additions HhE - 49 - 49
Disposal HE (125) - - (125)
Depreciation nE (20) (129) - (149)
Net book value as at 31 March, 2019 R=E-AF=F=+-Hx
REEE 842 223 - 1,065
At 31¢t March, 2019 R=ZB-NE=ZA=t+-H
Cost R 1,162 6,426 1,381 8,969
Accumulated depreciation ZBNE (320) (6,203) (1,381) (7,904)
Net book value BREFE 842 223 - 1,065
Annual Report 2019 F 4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Notes:

(i)  The analysis of net book value as at 1%t April, 2017 was as follows:

16. Y1 - R
i

R (&)

() MZE—LFMA-—HZEEFESNN

T
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HELH KA -HEBE
(In HK$'000) S ) REgF REE RE PR
Cost BN 900 6,325 1,381 8,606
Accumulated depreciation ZREITE (280) (5,946) (1,335) (7,561)
Net book value BREFE 620 379 46 1,045

(ii)  The total cost of property, plant and equipment disposed during the
year was approximately HK$125,000 (2018: HK$ Nil).

(iii)  The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau and Hong
Kong and both are under medium-term lease.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(i) MEAFELENE BRIRIBEEAL
R#1125,0008 T (ZT—N\F: THET) -

(i) PHEHNNHEELMREFLNRPRE
7 o

17. REYE

2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB F T B ) —E-1F A
Fair value: DA :
At 15t April I A—H 1,511,000 1,396,000
Net increase in fair value recognised in ARBEZEREFER
the consolidated income statement RERE SRR 175,000 115,000
At 31st March R=ZA=1+—8 1,686,000 1,511,000

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are
held under medium-term lease.

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,462,000,000
(2018: HK$1,290,000,000) to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

17. RENE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (i) DABEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TREVNAREFRKEEHEEENRE
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting HRBES S BREELFI13EAN
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level SKEBEFEMRE N Z=A2AEBE
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value LR ARAARBEAEAERZR
Measurement. B o
Fair value measurement
UDREFERRER
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In HK$'000) (W BB FLRENL) DA F-FE E_E F=E
Recurring fair value measurement EEMAREHNE
2019 “E-NF
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau - EA-RM 1,462,000 - - 1,462,000
- Residential - Macau - B -RMH 224,000 - - 224,000
1,686,000 - - 1,686,000
2018 —E-N\F
Investment properties BREME
- Commercial - Macau — B2 1,290,000 = = 1,290,000
~ Residential - Macau — FE-—8M 221,000 = = 221,000
1,511,000 = - 1,511,000
During the years ended 31t March, 2019 and 2018, there BHE - Z—hErR_ZEZ—N\EF=A
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers =t-HIEFERN F-—EHF_[E
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise ZHEBEER  FEAZTHELR
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of FoB - AEBEZHERNAREHRE
the reporting period in which they occur. BRANBESHRLEAMEELER -
Valuation process (i) FEBRE

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March, 2019 and 31t March, 2018 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.
Investment properties were valued on open market basis.

AEER-_Z-NF=ZA=+—8K
—E-N\F=ZRA=t-HZREVX
MAREDREREY X GEMF
RITAEMARABMETZEEF
fRIERE - RENE ZBENRIH
mEEREE-

Annual Report 2019 F 4%

133




SEEPAN

i

== |

]

™ Ow R KM O

For the year ended 31% March, 2019 &£ =2 —JUE=H =+ —H IL4E i
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(iii) Valuation methodologies
Investment properties valuation was determined using the
following approaches:

(iv)

(a)

Income capitalisation approach

In the valuation, the market rentals of all lettable units
of the properties are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other
lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood.
The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates observed by the valuers for the
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based
on the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the
respective properties. The most significant unobservable
inputs into this valuation approach are monthly market
rent and the capitalisation rate.

Residual approach

The residual approach is valued by referencing to
its development potential by deducting costs and
developer’s profits from its estimated completed
development value. It relies upon a series of
assumptions made by the valuers which produce an
arithmetical calculation of the expected current sale
value as at the valuation date of the property being
developed or held for development or redevelopment. A
range of values may be attributable to the subject land
depending upon the assumption mode.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the

17. REWE (&)
(i) fHERE
REMEGERBAT HEAREE

(a)

WAB KA

EMHER  MEMA A LEEN
HWmEHEHE2Z R HBEM
PR BT A AR Y X AR S
EREITIE - IERAMER(L
HERTB2ZhRGEMABRIE
EHREUMEO KSR - WER
HEMSHERNEFERRNR
AMmAR - EEGETEREKX
THBERAZEREATSHE
ERERHE -

Rerx

FEBERREMENBRESN
WEEHZERBGNEERRE
RATRER AR BERE BN (EMR
{8 - BRERGERMEL — RS
RRMEE N EARRIFFIES
RIEZZMERF 5 EERN
HEEE - fREMNKETERR
B LM {E ) — R 5 RERM

=
E °

REHYEZ AR BER - FA
MEZESRRERRNR/EE
Al o

(iv) ATREREDEGHEMRFRAZGEES

key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREEHABE RS
Significant Range
Valuation unobservable & [E
techniques inputs 2019 2018
HESZE BEXTABRRAHE —E-hEF —ET-N\F
Commercial properties  Income capitalisation approach
ELik/ES LN Y 7
- shop Capitalisation rate 1.2-2.2% 2.0-2.8%
— A B bR 1.2-2.2% 2.0-2.8%
— carparking Capitalisation rate 1.9 - 2.9% 1.7-1.8%
— By BERb & 1.9 -2.9% 1.7 -1.8%

Residential development
EEER

Residual approach

Rer%

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Intangible assets represent the trading rights in the Stock BN EERBIMNEEHRERSIMER
Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited. RAIZR G -
2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (BB F T BEN) —E-NEF —E-)N\F
Cost at 15t April, and 31t March, net of REA—BR=A=+—HZKA

accumulated amortisation 2R A FE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) KA (REBE) 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation B (1,360) (1,360)
Net carrying amount RASE 2,040 2,040

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. REEE DR 2R

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LB T B & 7) —E-1F —E-)N\%F

Unlisted investment, at cost FELEMRE KA 73,691 73,691

Share of post-acquisition profits less losses JE{E U EE 1% 314 EE 1% % F (31,357) (25,649)

Exchange differences arising on translation #E BN EEEZEN =5

of foreign operations (3,069) (119)

39,265 47,923

The Group’s interest in its principal associate which is unlisted, AREBNAEF T TEBRLS A G 2N
was as follows: T :

Percentage of
effective interest

Particulars of Place of attributable Principal

Name of associate issued shares held incorporation to the Group activities

BENRER BEERTRAFE A B 3 4 2 rEEERERASL TEXH

Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited Registered capital The PRC 30%  Property investment
RMB60,000,000

FHERELARAT HRAFARE REARHAE 30% FHERA
60,000,000

The interest in associate is held in trust by a director of the HENRESEARNT —UEERERAE

Company on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group. BHBARIAEET I AEE -
Annual Report 2019 F 4%
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20.
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE _F—HE=ZH=+—HIL4EE

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. REFE DR 2% ()

Summarised financial information of the material associate, EACHENT et RFE=E A%
adjusted for any difference in accounting policies, and reconciled REGEVBRREOE AR EN K
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, SEWBENT

are disclosed below:

Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited
EMNEHREXERDA

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (BB TFTRENL) —E-NF —Z-)\F
Summarised statement of financial R REE

position
Current assets MEEE 713,934 714,952
Non-current assets FEREEE 53,315 58,669
Current liabilities mBAE (636,365) (613,877)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE = =
Equity HEm 130,884 159,744
Summarised statement of 2HBERBE

comprehensive income
Revenue Wz - -
Loss after tax Briiiz E518 (19,025) (20,517)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 EM - -
Total comprehensive loss ZHEBEEE (19,025) (20,517)
Dividend received from associate BERNTZRE = =
Reconciled to the Group’s interest REBEGHENT

in the associate FEi 2 iR
Net assets of the associate BE R EEFE 130,884 159,744
Group’s effective interest REE AN ER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate "% B E(GEE &N B EEFE 39,265 47,923
Carrying amount in the consolidated fRE MWK < REE

financial statements 39,265 47,923
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 20. TEEENKEE

2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LOBBEFor B r) —E-1F A
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FETRAEKRE - RKE - 136
As 31st March, 2018, the unlisted equity investments, of which their RZE-NE=ZR=+—H " KA F5t
fair values cannot be measured reliably, are stated at cost. B2k ETMBRARE R ETIRKAET]

B e
?

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )



20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

21.

¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= a

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

As at initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1%t April, 2018, AFS
financial assets at approximately HK$136,000 was reclassified to
financial assets at FVTPL with fair value losses of an amount at
approximately HK$136,000 was recognised to the retained profits.

20.

ARBENKEE (&)
NRZE-NEMA—-BYNSEREEH
BRE LB FOHE A HENKEE
#136,0008 TEHF DB AR AL ERE
BRINEZHHREE MALBEEELY
136,000/ 70 B RN R B @ F o

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 21, EFRHMEBWHRE B RANKIE
PREPAYMENTS
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB TFTBER) —E-NE —E-N\&
Amounts receivable arising from BREB BFRPERS
the ordinary course of business of
dealing in securities and options:
— Cash clients -BERFP 16,440 25,619
— The SEHK Options Clearing House - MR EEEBR AR
Limited 2 2
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing - BAPREZERAA
Company Limited 11,647 12
Amounts receivable arising from AEEB BB AR FRIGIE -
the ordinary course of business of
dealing in futures contracts:
— Clearing house — HERT 1,180 1,621
Amounts receivable arising from the BREBRHBLFFRAE
ordinary course of business of provision of YA :
securities margin financing:
- Clients (Note) - &P (Mz) 128,122 140,412
Amounts receivable arising from AEXB RHEDE
the ordinary course of business R 5 EWGRIE
dealing in precious metal:
- Clients - &P 267 746
- CGSE - 2REEHS 3 3
Interest-bearing receivables from loans B ) 2 FEUE 2 654,869 480,758
Accounts receivables PR X 36 21
Other receivables Hib U BR X 137,933 3,238
950,499 652,432
Less: Impairment loss on trade and w o BHRERFURERE
loan receivables (160,326) (109,261)
790,173 543,171
Deposits and prepayments e RBHAHRE 3,065 2,842
793,238 546,013
Portion classified as non-current assets DERIERDEEDND (97,999) (169,959)
Portion classified as current assets DEARDEEDSH 695,239 376,054

Note: ~ Margin client receivables after the impairment loss amounted
to approximately HK$57,440,000 (2018: HK$102,835,000) are
repayable on demand, bearing interest at market rate and
secured by clients’ securities listed on the Stock Exchange with
a total market value of approximately HK$258,444,000 as at 31¢

March, 2019 (2018: HK$229,869,000).

fiit: BRABREFERERNEEBEZD
57,440,000 T (=& — \ 4 :
102,835,000/ 7T) 2R 1@ A B (5 8
FBIEMIGH R - RIAR R R
i EM2 EBHERR  RZE—NE=
A=+—B#&m{EA#%258,444,0007%
T (ZZ— )\ : 229,869,000/ ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= &8 B B ® x KM =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 21, ESRHEMBWRE - BERAFRE
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) (&)
The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing KEEBLEEXEBMEANE S RESHT
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two ERERPEKGERT S AMKEES -
days after trade date, and of accounts receivable arising from RABIESOR 5 ETE £/ E WA
RRHGB—REERE - NRARIPITEER
R TURZERFIERBRRE DT
RZERITH L EBEE L T RME
SMETE o

the business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after
trade date. No aging analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the
executive directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of this business.

REAEEEFREFAERE SR EH
AERERBEKXS ZEBHMT

The movements in the impairment loss on trade receivables during
the year, including both specific and collective loss components,
are as follows:

138

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
not credit- credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired Total
BHEE
T=-EAPES BEELR BHEE
(In HK$°000) (LB T BEM) FEEBE FERME BEGEERE Bt
At 15t April, 2017 RZE—+F
MA—H 7,006 - 67,428 74,434
Movement during the year FRNE - 35,000 (54) 34,946
Uncollectible amounts [BEiE RN EE e
written off - - (119) (119)
At 31% March, 2018 RZE-N\F
=A=+—8 7,006 35,000 67,255 109,261
Effect arising from adoption of A FHEIIERE%E
HKFRS 9 AIFOREECHE . = - -
At 15t April, 2018 RZE—NFMA—
H 7,006 35,000 67,255 109,261
Transfer of impairment loss on  HFRE @& K REE %K
margin financing (Note) BB (BT - (35,000) 35,000 =
Recovery of debts on interest 4 [}t 7 5 fE Yy &
bearing loan receivables R EH = = (54) (54)
Impairment loss on margin TRRERERX
financing (Note) (=) 5,008 - 28,103 33,106
Impairment loss on interest B 7 )2 1 & FOR
bearing loan receivables BEX 2,156 9,888 6,120 18,164
Uncollectible amount written off &+ 4 £& 7% U B £ & 58 - - (151) (151)
At 315 March, 2019 R-_ZE-—NF=H
=4r=8 14,165 9,888 136,273 160,326

Note: The impaired receivables related to customers that were in
the process of liquidation and management assessed that the
receivables are unlikely to be recovered.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 21,

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

Receivables that were past due relate to a number of independent
customers and were reviewed by the directors with impairment
losses of approximately HK$160,326,000 made at 31 March, 2019
(2018: HK$109,261,000). Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no further impairment
loss is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are

considered fully recoverable.

The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables not impaired is

ESRHMERRE BERBEFRE
(&)

ERBCREEFDSEBIRE K%
ERRRAASEAN_E-NF=A=1—
B 1 8 B B 5 49160,326,0008 T (=&
— \4F : 109,261,000/ 7T) ° BB AL
B ARAEERAE  UTABERZELER
BELRERE FAEECEEETES
RE(b - MZELERDEE AT 2EHE -

B 5 R E A FE YR IR R B ORE 2 Bl T

as follows: INNE
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB Tt 381 7) —E-1F —T-N\F
Neither past due nor impaired REERARRE 708,419 485,793

Past due: 2385 :

Less than 1 month past due BEAE—EA 10,447 2,580
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z=={EA 3,769 7,860
3 months to 1 year past due BE=EAZE—F 42,074 19,680
Over 1 year past due BERR—F 25,464 27,258
81,754 57,378
790,173 543,171

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default or covered by collaterals pledged with the

REBRARBEZ BREK IR EED
kA AEEARAEE 2 AR mEE
BEEHZRETREP o

Group.
OTHER ASSETS 22, HitERE
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LEEFTREN) —E-1F —E—)\F
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company ~ &&FREEGRAA
Limited
- Guarantee fund deposit - RBEHFEK 100 100
— Admission fee - 205 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange B FTATER S 200 200
Statutory deposit with the SFC BESETERS 2,000 2,000
Reserve fund contribution to BRATEREE AR AR
the Stock Exchange Options et
Clearing House Limited 1,500 1,300
Reserve fund contribution to the HKFE BEHEAEER AR 2 EHE MR
Clearing Corporation Limited 1,500 1,500
5,400 5,200
Annual Report 2019 F 4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

23. INVENTORIES 23. B&
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB F T BEN) —E-NEF —E-)N\F
Precious metal, stated at cost EEBUNAE 20 20
24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 24, H{EBRYE
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB F T BEM) —E-NEF —T-)\F
Properties held for development, at cost:  H{EZE R EUKNTE
At 15t April and 31¢t March RUA—BR=A=+—H 3,011 3,011
25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25. RITEHRES
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (BB FTREL) —E-NF —T-)\F
Cash at bank RITAEER
— General accounts - —RFO 147,245 299,489
Cash in hand Re 3 14
Non-pledged short-term bank deposits with —f&AEE AR DR3EA R
original maturity less than 3 months BHA 2 RIS BRI TR K 161,117 215,310
Cash and cash equivalents ReMEeEEER 308,365 514,813
Cash at bank IRITHEER
— Trust accounts — {55 F0 50,942 61,695
- Segregated accounts - PHEEFA 1,820 2,090
Pledged short-term bank deposits with —RAEBEARRLRIEAR
original maturity less than 3 months NEIEZ EERERRITER
(Note) (HzE) 10,000 10,000
371,127 588,598

Note: The amount represents fixed deposits pledged to a bank to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 # 4 Bl f7 B A 5] )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

BORROWINGS 26. B
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB F T BEN) —E-NF —E-)N\F
Unsecured other loans EEARE N
— interest-bearing — &2 2,769 3,599
Borrowings are repayable as follows: R TEIF B EE 2 B
Within one year or on demand —FRRIERA 2,769 3,599

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as
follows:

AEBEERZERNE (FHEEREOF
R)ZEBEWT :

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET-N\F
Effective interest rates ERA = 3.2% 2.6%

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which

ERBREAREENEEE AN 2 BHE
B2 55 -

they relate:
2019 2018
—T-NF —E-N\F
Us$ EY US$ 356 US$ 462
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 27. EEBALRE
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LEEFTREN) —E-1F —T-)\F
Amounts due to related parties FE 1 BAESE A T 3IB
— Related companies — BEART 1,274 2,120

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of
repayment.

ENBBALZHRARER RERE
Bl E & o

28. BNRKERRANE
FRAABER REREETERY -
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29. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

29. BAMERENER

2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LBETF T BER) —E-hE —E-N\fF
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B #5% 2 & 5 K
course of business of dealing in securities 32 5 R FE -
and options:
— Cash clients - BekFP 61,527 70,291
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing — BABRREEERAT
Company Limited - 19,866
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B EEK 2 HEANZ FEMNTA -
course of business of dealing in futures
contracts:
- Clients - %P 2,999 3,711
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B EEHK 2 REBHHERE
course of business of provision of FERTFIE
securities margin financing:
- Clients - &P 1,840 11,021
Amounts payable arising from ordinary HEXB RUEESBEERNTE
course of business of dealing in precious
metal 150 144
Accruals and other payables FERT B B R LA e 1~ 500 4,320 6,097
Rental and other deposits received HERHEMBEWIES 5,547 5,328
Rental received in advance BHES 173 161
76,556 116,619

The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of

30.

RAEEPRNRERR S AMAREE -
Htb RN SRRBRBRER - ZEH K

these balances is within 30 days. BRA=ZTHR-
SHARE CAPITAL 30. ®A
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
(In HK$'000) (BB ForBE ) EBER2EE ERR2EE
Authorised: EE
As at 15t April, 2017, 31¢ March, 2018 RZE—+FMA—H -
and 31st March, 2019 at HK$0.01 each —E-NFZA=t—HK
“E-NAE=A=1-8
FRAB0.014T 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
As at 15t April, 2017, 31t March, 2018 RZZE—+tFWA—QH -
and 31t March, 2019 —Z-N\F=A=+—H
RZF-NE=A=+—H 2,682,316,758 26,824

142
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%
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8 B B & x W =

JEZH =+ HILERE

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 3. REHSRH
The Group as lessee E@EAREA
The Group leases certain properties under operating lease AEERESLTHETHMARAETYE -
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for a term of HE S MREREER A —F(—F— \F:
one year (2018: one year). —&F) o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future WL AEFREN AR
minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings under BEQURETN Y A RSEENASHT
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LB T T RE) —E-hEF —N\E
Within one year —FR - 1,007
The Group as lessor E@EAHBAA
The Group leases certain properties under operating lease AEERECLATHERHERETYE -
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms HESMBREEANT S E (-8
ranging from one to twenty (2018: one to twenty) years. —NE:—F=+%F) o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future ALK AEEBETIHESLHA
minimum lease rental receivables under non-cancellable operating ETARSEEKBLNT
leases as follows:
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (LGEB T T REN) —E-1F —T-N\F
Within one year —FR 31,359 25,422
In the second to fifth years, inclusive RE-F2EREZRN 40,164 34,487
More than five years BBAF 37,510 6,534
109,033 66,443
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. HEWELT
On 31¢t March, 2018, the Group disposed of its subsidiary, Energy N-E-NE=A=+-—0 KeFH=
Mark Limited to an independent third party for a consideration of HHBATICEER AT TEIE=F
HK$3,450. HAREARS 4508 TT °
The net assets of Energy Mark Limited disposed of: HERmAE AR A TR EE -
2018
(In HK$'000) (VOB T T 3E ) —\¥
Assets B =
Liabilities BfE =
Net assets FEE =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE KB AR FTEE 2R 3
Proceeds from disposal HEFER 3
Satisfied by: B
Cash B 3
Annual Report 2019 F 4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BMERBEBEALIRS
During the year, the Group had the following material transactions RAFE  AEELEEBE AT ETN
with its related parties: TZERRS
Name of related party Nature of transactions Notes 2019 2018
BEALER REME —B-nF  ZE-N\F
(In HK$°000) (BT RED) Wit
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA") Investment management fee (a) 2,243 2,446
HRAKREARLA ([HAKE]) REERE
Performance fee (a) - -
=AM E
Securities brokerage commission fee (b) 165 634
BHEEREE
Handling fee for dividend collection (c) 21 22
BREBKFEE
Margin financing interest (d) 57 75
FREEME
Placing fee (e) 608 =
REE
Bullion dealing interest (f) - -

EBRHNE
Commodity brokerage commission fee  (g) - -

HEKRBLER
Bullion commission (h) - -
BEcERe
Handling fee for bullion trading (i) - =
ECEBEETHEE
Storage fee for bullion () 6 6
BEYBTRE
Town Bright Industries Limited Rental expenses (k) 676 676
REEXERLDA HeRx
Upbest Properties Company Limited Rental expenses (1 84 84
XRMERRAT MR
Champion Assets Limited Rental expenses (m) 60 60
HEBRLDA MeRX
Loong Cheong Limited Rental expenses (n) 156 156
EEBRAT HeER%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Notes:

(a) A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management
Limited (“UAML”) as investment manager, and UBA Investments
Limited (“UBA”) had entered into third investment management
agreement dated 26" January, 2016 (“Third Investment Management
Agreement”) and agreed that the investment management services
provided by UAML to UBA for a period of three years from 15t April,
2016 to 31% March, 2019. This agreement can be terminated by either
UAML or UBA serving not less than six months’ notice in writing
prior to the expiration. Pursuant to the Third Investment Management
Agreement, monthly investment management fee is receivable at
1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset value of UBA as at
the immediately preceding valuation date on the basis of the actual
number of days in the relevant calendar month over a year of 365
days.

In addition to the above investment management fee, a performance
fee payable in Hong Kong dollars equivalent to 20% of net profit of
UBA before taxation and before deduction of the management fee
payable under the investment management agreements shall be paid
to UAML for each financial year.

The annual cap for the investment management fee and performance
fee for the year ended 31 March, 2019 was HK$13,300,000.
These continuing connected transactions were approved at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30" March,
2016. The performance fee of HK$Nil (2018: HK$Nil) due from
UBA was included in trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments as at 31t March, 2019.

(b)  Upbest Securities Company Limited (“USCL") and UBA and two of
its subsidiaries had separately entered into securities brokerage
supplemental agreements (“Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements”) dated 26" January, 2016 for the transactions in relation
to the securities brokerage services and agreed that the original
agreements were further extended for a period of three years from
1st April, 2016 to 31t March, 2019. Another two subsidiaries of the
UBA had entered into second supplemental agreement with USCL
dated 31% March, 2017 in respect of securities brokerage service
for extension of the period from 1st April, 2017 to 31¢ March, 2018,
and the third supplemental agreement dated 31t March, 2018 to
extend the period from 1t April, 2018 to 31 March, 2019. Brokerage
commission fee income is charged at 0.25% (2018: 0.25%), the
prevailing market rate, on the value of the transactions.

It was expected that annual brokerage commission was less than
HK$3,000,000 per annum and that transactions contemplated under
the Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements were considered
to be de-minimis transactions for the Group pursuant to Rule 14A.76
of the Listing Rule.

33. BMERBBMALRS (&)

Bifsx

(a)

ARARZHBARERERBRAR ([
BER])  ARALE SRABPREER
ARl ([AAERE]D) R=ZE—X~"F—A
“TABEIF=NREEEHE ([F
“HEREEERZE])  YREHRERERE
RFARREREZREEEREAH=F
H-ZE—ANENA-—BE-_Z—NAE=H
—t—H-ENHBEUUAAEEEELRA
AREETPRAEANEEBANRLE -
REE=NREEEHH BAZREE
BEDNEAPERHEEAZGAEERE
1.50% 2 EFEREEEAERBEHR I
2FI65H 2 EEL T o

FrLaREEREN RNEEFREE -
XRERAZAREAARERTAARN
PHBREREERHETINREECEE
Bl Z BA#20% 2 KRB &

HE_Z-—NF=-RA=1T—"HLEWHEFE
Ziﬁ&égﬁ%&%ﬁ%ﬁﬁgtﬁﬁ
wamow%ﬁ M%ﬁ?%Li%EF
E—REZA=ZF+BE1TZ2AR
h%%%ﬁ?iL@ RZZE— nE,H
=+t—HB BRFAPRENRENES AT
BL(ZE—NF :ZET)BSEESR
HiEW A Be REMRER -

EREFBRA TU%E %D%ﬁ%
Txé&ﬂﬁﬁf‘ﬁﬁﬁ% /\fﬁ_
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Handling fee for dividend collection is charged at minimum of HK$30
or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") with UBA and two
of its subsidiaries had separately entered into financial assistance
supplemental agreements (“Financial Assistance Supplemental
Agreements”) dated 26" January, 2016 in relation to the provision
of securities margin financing services. According to the Financial
Assistance Supplemental Agreements, the respective relevant
original agreements were further extended for a period of three
years to 31t March, 2019. The agreements are subject to renewal
by written supplemental agreements between the contracting
parties. The securities margin financing services interest rate is
charged at 4.25% (2018: 4.25%) above prime rate per annum
inclusive of custodian fee; and the provision of IPO financing at an
interest rate from 0.20% to 1.50% (2018: 0.20% to 1.50%) per annum
above the borrowing costs of UICL. Interest income for the securities
margin accounts is charged at 9.50% (2018: 9.50%) per annum. No
interest income related to IPO financing services received during the
years ended 318 March, 2019 and 2018.

On 12" December, 2018, Upbest Securities Company Limited
(“Upbest Securities”) and UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) entered
into a placing agreement pursuant to which UBA conditionally agreed
to place through Upbest Securities, on a best effort basis, up to
211,955,640 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.082 per
placing share. The placing shares were allotted and issued pursuant
to the general mandate granted to the directors of UBA at the annual
general meeting of UBA held on 17" August, 2018. Upbest Securities
charged UBA a placing commission equivalent to 3.5% of the placing
price in respect of such number of placing shares successfully
placed by Upbest Securities plus any other out-of-pocket charges
and expenses by the Upbest Securities in relation to the placing. The
completion of the placing took place on 4" January, 2019.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )

33. BEKBEBALRS (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(f)

Upbest Gold and Silver Trading Limited (“UGS”) entered into the
precious metal financial assistance agreement with UBA Gold
Investment Limited (“UBA Gold”) dated 26™ January, 2016 in relation
to the provision of precious metal margin financing services for a
period of three years from 1t April, 2016 to 31t March, 2019 by
UGS to UBA Gold. The agreement is subject to renewal by written
supplemental agreement between the contracting parties.

The interest rate for the precious metal financing services is charged
from 0.25% to 0.50% (2018: 0.25% to 0.50%) per annum above the
borrowing costs of UGS for call position. In respect of put position,
the interest rate is charged 0.25% to 0.50% (2018: 0.25% to 0.50%)
per annum on top of the borrowing cost of UGS (if any) provided that
if UGS would received any interest from its supplier(s), UBA Gold
may off-set such financing fee against the interest received by UGS
from its supplier(s). For avoidance of doubt, any remaining interest
received by UGS from its supplier(s) as a result of such set-offs in
respect of such put position will be paid to UBA Gold.

For the year ended 31¢ March, 2019, interest for precious metal
financing services has been charged at the range of 0.00% to 3.75%
(2018: 0.00% to 3.00%) per annum. No interest has been charged
during the year.

The annual cap regarding the securities and precious metal margin
financial assistance (as disclosed in Note (d) and Note (f)) for the financial
year 31 March, 2019 was HK$60,000,000. These continuing connected
transactions were approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the
shareholders held on 30" March, 2016.

(9)

Commodities brokerage commission is charged at a range from
HK$20 to HK$100 (2018: HK$20 to HK$100) per transaction.

Precious metal commission is charged at a range from US$10 to
US$250 (2018: US$10 to US$250) per transaction.

Handling fee for precious metal trading is charged at 0.25% (2018:
0.25%) per transaction amount.

Storage fee for precious metal trading is charged at US$2 (2018:
US$2) per day.

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered into
tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited for one
year, commencing from 1% April, 2017. The tenancy agreements
were renewed to 31t March, 2019 on 1%t April, 2018. The tenancy
agreements were further renewed for twelve months, commencing
from 1¢t April, 2019. (Note)

8 B B & x W =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%
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Bt : (&)

(f)

HE-Z

ARRIZMBAR  ZELHEHERA

B ([%&&44R]) EUBA Gold Investment
Limited (TUBA Gold]) R=E—X~F—A
—t+BAEESEIRE TUBA GoldZ
EeBARRERBE T —HESEH
BEBDHZE WO BRAR=F BT

—ANENMA—BE-_ZE—AE=F=+—
B -EHnlEMBRBRTELRE -

ECBFERAGERGBEANZAE
BERSRZEERAR LZEFR0.25%
£0.50% (ZZF— \F : 0.25%%0.50%
) BRI HANZME ARSI 2B
B AR = E)FF R E0.25%%20.50% (=
T—N\% :0.25%%0.50%) (10F) -
2o RA R R TS - AJUBA Gold
EUZFBMARNZEZ N2 REBRY
HoRERE TREESRHHEERK
ER A F) B2 B4R B OA A S FTIRER B9 FI) B
B HRET X I TUBA Gold

BE-T-NEF=-A=t+—HLEER"
ﬁ%x%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% 0.00%i3.75%
(ZZ—N\%:0.00%%3.00%) - HEIL4
BB A2

—NE=ZA=T—BEHREERHES

LESBARMBENFEE LR (MM ER

B 55 (f)FT 2 BB ) 260,000,000/ T ° %2 %
ERFERZ

S
E-RE=ZA=TRETHRERR

RIRE LEBHE -

(9)

HH%-%T R G2 BE R0 TE100 T
(ZZ2—N\E : H20BTE100ETT) °

ELBERRHMAEA10ETE250 X T
(ZZ2—N\E : H10ETE250%TT) °

ELBEEETEEASRESEBAEYN
0.25% (ZZF—\F :0.25%) °

ELBGERAEABRHZERL(ZE—N\F:
2ETT) °

ARBEZMRAMBRES R LR EEE
ﬁf‘f‘xATaT.ﬁEi"fTﬁ%aﬁ =55 e AR
A—RE BH-—F -R-_FT—-/\FOA
—PHEGEEEEE T - NF=A
=t+-A-HERZEBEE+_EA -
A= AFMA—Hils o (M)

Annual Report 2019 F 4%

\.; S,

i
= ok

147



148
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

()

(0)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy agreement
with Upbest Properties Company Limited for one year, commencing
from 1t April, 2017. The tenancy agreement has renewed to 31
March, 2019 on 1%t April, 2018. The tenancy agreement was further
renewed for twelve months, commencing from 1=t April, 2019. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy agreement
with Champion Assets Limited for one year, commencing from 1
April, 2017. The tenancy agreement has renewed to 315 March, 2019
on 1%t April, 2018. The tenancy agreement was further renewed for
twelve months, commencing from 15t April, 2019. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy agreement
with Loong Cheong Limited for one year, commencing from 1<t April,
2017. The tenancy agreement has renewed to 315 March, 2019 on 1%
April, 2018. The tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve
months, commencing from 1t April, 2019. (Note)

Note:

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”) holds
approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest Group Limited (“Upbest”).
Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung Fai”) holds approximately 26.74% of
UBA. The ultimate beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng’s
Family Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng's Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
(“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”).
Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also
a director of UBA. Moreover, UAML, the investment manager of UBA,
is regarded as a connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interest in Town Bright Industries Limited,
Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion Assets Limited and
Loong Cheong Limited.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in note 12.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course
of the Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (35 &t 45 [ 45 Wt 2 )

33. BEKBEBALRS (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inag

8 B B & x W =

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 BE=F—JUE=ZHA =+ —H L4

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. IAREE
2019 2018

(In HK$'000) (LGEE T T RE) —E-NF —ENF
Guarantees given by the Company and its $’“ﬂ&ﬁﬁ1ﬂ%"ﬂﬁﬁ2%:ﬁ

subsidiaries to financial institutions in BT BHEERNIGEE

respect of facilities granted to

independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to AARRENB ARG THH

financial institutions in respect of KEERUDEEE

facilities granted to subsidiaries 452,000 152,000

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it
is probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any
of the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the none of the amount was utilised by
the subsidiaries at 31t March, 2019 (2018: none).

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and
its transaction price was HK$Nil (2018: HK$Nil).

RBERRE  EZITRAAEERER
ATESIERE -

LafER - ERZ ﬂiiﬂ Safr—
JIEEFHZ%EJE( —N\F ) -

ARUEERRI AR BRAREMTER
ZRXPEBEREREL(ZE-\F : THE
70) - A AR EIIRE BB EREREM
BRI ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= &8 B B ® x KM =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 35. AN A KBRS AOR &
2019 2018
(In HK$'000) (MBI BET) —E-1F —T-\F
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries i NG T 356,215 401,409
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Dividend receivable FEUIAR 2 50,000 50,000
Prepayments SE(NE 4 =
Bank balances and cash RITEHRIRE 137 130
50,141 50,130
CURRENT LIABILITIES pEIR=RET
Accrued expenses ENEAR 391 327
Provision for taxation T B 7,999 =
8,390 327
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEE 41,751 49,803
NET ASSETS BEEFE 397,966 451,212
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREE
Share capital [N 26,824 26,824
Reserves (Note) =l =) 317,496 327,824
Proposed dividend BRI S 53,646 96,564
397,966 451,212
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved AR B AREEEEEN _ZS— A
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24" June, ERXA-TINARERBEREZEHEE T
2019. EERERE
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
12 E1ER
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEFE HITEFE
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M o ® xR K O

JEZH =+ HILERE

(Continued)
Note: reserves of the company

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 &£ —%

= a

35. ADAMNHBRRK (F)

it ARBW R

Share Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total

(In HK$'000) (LBEFTREN) R R E EHER REEF At
As at 15t April, 2017 —tE&MmMA—H 300,959 8,515 64,877 374,351
Profit for the year FERF - = 50,037 50,037
Other comprehensive income for AFEHMZ2ENE

the year = = = =
Total comprehensive income for AEEEEKEEE

the year = = 50,037 50,037
Proposed final dividend BOR R E RS - - (96,564) (96,564)
As at 31t March, 2018 R-_B-N\E=ZA=1+—H 300,959 8,515 18,350 327,824
Profit for the year FREH - - 43,318 43,318
Other comprehensive income for AEZHM2EWNE

the year - - - =
Total comprehensive income for AEEEENEER

the year - - 43,318 43,318
Proposed final dividend BIRRERE - - (53,646) (53,646)
As at 31 March, 2019 RZE-NF=A=t—H 300,959 8,515 8,022 317,496

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

36. METHMELRBZHIR

TRHADASERBZYHMELAE L E
g BRAGMIACED BELHM

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified as

EXEBEERERECARKREESRER
RAGESEERERERADBR/BER

cash flows from financing activities in the Group’s consolidated HEEREZBE
statement of cash flows.
Bank Proposed
borrowing dividend Total

(In HK8'000) (KB FLHER) RN BIEB 8 @it
At 1t April, 2017 RZZE—tFMA—H 25,000 48,282 73,282
Financing cash flows MERSRE (25,000) (48,282) (73,282)
Dividend declared EE KR E - 96,564 96,564
At 315t March, 2018 and RN\ EE= B = =]

15t April, 2018 k=ZE—-NFWMA—H - 96,564 96,564
Financing cash flows MEESREE - (96,564) (96,564)
Dividend declared EEIRRE = 53,646 53,646
At 31st March, 2019 R-ZE-NFE=ZA=+—H - 53,646 53,646
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= &8 B B ® x KM =

For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

37. SUBSIDIARIES 37. IBAF

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31" March, 2019 are as RZZE-HNhE=A=+—8 KXAREHE

follows: N = PNGTE
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BETR
WEARZHE MR hY FEEEHY SEEREAN TEER  HREERRR

2019 2018
“E-0F CB-NF
Upbest Financial Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
RELMRES A REER E
Upbest Land Company Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REEMRES A REER E
Citybest Management Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REEMRES B RERR E
Companhia De Desenvolvimento E Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada

BEEXERERAA ] B EWERE 25,0009t
Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Money lending HK$28,000,004
HRABERAR] Bk 0 BEX@E 28,000,004
Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding HK$10,000
REBRAH BE BA REER 10,000 T
Good Profit Development Limited Samoa  Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
ENERERAHA BED Bk REER Ey
Great Luck Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive US$50,000
REERBRAA REEBREE e TREEE 50,000% T
King Standard International Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% 100% Property holding US$1
RBEEBRES B EER E
Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding Us$2
REEBREE Bk REER PE
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. MBLR (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31t March, 2019 are as RZEBE-—NE=R=1+—8 ARTEEHE =
follows: (Continued) ATHBRR : (&)
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BRTR
WEBARERE dRKUbE FEEENE SEEREAN TEEE HREBRRA
2019 2018
S A%
Mei Tou Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
Limited
XEEXARAA ! iy FHERE 25,0002 7
Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
EFNEBRAA B R FHERE 25,0002
Perfect Result Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REREARDA EBARRES &b REFR (E
Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 70% 70%  Project and property HK$10
management
ERZERERAA B b BERMEER 1087
Upbest Assets Management Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100%  Assets management HK$600,000
Limited
FREBARAA & &k BEER 600,000% 7.
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Precious metal dealing HK$11,000,000
FREXARAT & &h ESBEE  11,000,000%T
Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Futures dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited
FRASERAT Bk Bk HEEE 10,000,000
Upbest Credit and Mortgage Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
FREEREBERAA &b B EREED 2T
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
ZREFHERRAR &b B THEED 2B
Annual Report 2019 F 4%
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For the year ended 31* March, 2019 B E - —E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. IBAT (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2019 are as RZZE—hNhE=A=+—HB KXAREH
follows: (Continued) ATHBAR : (8)
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BRITR
MELRER AMRBE TEEXBLY EBBRESN TEXH  AREBREL
2019 2018
LS AN
Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
Company Limited
EBARRES BB REFER Ey
Upbest Investment Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Securities margin HK$40,000,000
Limited financing
ERREARATA B ) BHEFEBE  40,000,000% 7T
Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
Limited
ERRMELXARAT EBARRES Y REZR (E
Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$5,000,000
FRELESERAT & &h EREED 5,000,000/ ¢
Upbest Strategic Company Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding HK$5,002
FRERERARA &b i REAR 5,002/ 7T
Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Securities dealing HK$10,000,000
and broking
FRESFERAT B &k BHFXHREL  10,000,000% T
Peals International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
YHERER AR EBEARRES &b REFR (E
Maiyon Investment Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$35,000
Limited
FEREARAT &k &b EREEY 35,000/ T
Peace Gain Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 55% 55% Investment holding US$100
RERBRRES ) REER 100£ 7T
Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 55% 55%  Property investment HK$1
&b ) BEHERE BT

154 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 &t 4 i 4 i & )



37.

38.

39.

40.
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For the year ended 31" March, 2019 B E ~F—E=ZH=+—H IL4EE

'F‘"

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. MBLF (&) £
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31t March, 2019 are as R-E-—NF=A=1+—H8 ' KAQaAE = &fﬂ
follows: (Continued) ATRHBAR : (&) %
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BETR
WEAREH dRKUbE FEEENE SEEREAN TEXH  AREBREA
2019 2018
“B-n%F Z®R-N\E
Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 55% 55% Inactive HK$1
& &b IREEY 18T
Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Precious metal dealing HK$10,000
Limited
FREREFERAT 0 b HEEEER 10,0008 7
Mega Benefit International Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive US$1
RERRRES B EREEY (E
None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the RNFEEHREA S EERNTMAER - FrE K
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year. BRARHERSEBZEAMER -
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 38. EEBEZF
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 at 1%t April, KEBR-_Z—N\FNE—HBUSLERSE
2018. Under the transition methods, comparative information is not EB IR RS LR F 05 & B S SRS AR
restated. F155 - BEREZE  LRERUEET o
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39. MEBMARESBE
There is no significant event took place subsequent to the end of WREMRETES KEMHELE -
the reporting period.
APPROVAL AND AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE 40. BHFRSUBREOIENRE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and BERBEHERER-_E—NESNA=-1TH
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24" June, 2019. HES =< RRERZE -
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

W oE KM
(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31" MARCH, 2019 1) RZE-NE=ZR=+T—HzZRENE
Approximate Percentage of the
Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
EE 3 Rz BYEELEE R KEBFE
BRENL
(square feet)
(FER) %
(a) Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
RF Bl g
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
LRI F EFEPS2ER 2
ENES  BES1EEN -
WTER—EB2E
(b) Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B Commercial fnfié|
FE/ A
1 piece of land at
Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with
a two-story restaurant
URNRM K EEZR
ez et E
E-EMERREEEZEEY
(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS 2 AR-ZE-hF=ZA=+—HzEHEER
AT 31T MARCH, 2019 LY/
Percentage
of the Estimated
Approximate Group’s completion Stage of
Description Usage site area interest date development
EE 3 JiiEeS BROEE X&E st BREER
BER Frib SR A
Bl
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(a)  Hong Kong Government, 9,147 58 N/A  Vacant land
& Institution or i Z=E LT
Community
2 pieces of land at BT Kt E
Tseung Kwan O
Declaimation

District Number 248
FIIR LR B 75 i = R 2481% ) 1 Hr

156 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% & 4 I 45 it 2 )



UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(XEKLK B A MRAFA)

2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: 852 2545 3298

Website: www.upbest.com

ERBHETRI00%
EREEDL 218

T #E: 852 2545 3298
#1k: www.upbest.com
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